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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 REPORT OF THE TRUSTEES 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
The Trustees present their annual report together with financial statements and auditors’ reports of the charitable company for the 
period 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023. The annual report serves the purposes of both a Trustees’ report, and a directors’ 
report and strategic report under company law. 
 
The Golden Thread Alliance operates nine primary academies for pupils aged 3 to 11 serving a catchment area in Dartford and 
Gravesham, Kent. Its academies have a combined pupil capacity of 4,563 (excluding nursery) and had a roll of 4,685 in the school 
census on January 2023. This is over the Published Admission Numbers (PAN) due to bulge year   groups and additional pupils in 
KS2. 
 

Structure, governance and management 
 
 

 
 

a.  Constitution 
The Academy Trust is a company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity. The charitable company’s memorandum and Articles 
of Association are the primary governing documents of the Academy Trust and the Trust adopted the current Department for 
Education Model Articles (unamended) in December 2021. The Trustees of The Golden Thread Alliance are also the directors of the 
charitable company for the purposes of company law. 
 
Following approval by the Regional Schools’ Commissioner for “The Galaxy Trust” to merge with “The Pathway Academy Trust” with 
effect from 1 January 2023, Members approved via a written special resolution a change to the company name “The Galaxy Trust” to 
“The Golden Thread Alliance” which took place on 2 December 2022.  Therefore, the charitable company operated as The Galaxy 
Trust up to 1 December 2022 and operated as The Golden Thread Alliance with effect from 2 December 2022. 
 
Details of the Trustees who served during the year and to the date these accounts are approved are included in the Reference and 
Administrative Details on page 1. 

 
b.     Members' liability 
Each Member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the charitable company in the event of it being 
wound up while they are a Member, or within one year after they cease to be a Member, such amount as may be required, not 
exceeding £10 (as required in the Articles of Association), for the debts and liabilities contracted before they ceased to be a Member. 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 REPORT OF THE TRUSTEES 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 

Structure, governance and management - continued 
c.    Trustees' indemnities 
Trustees benefit from indemnity insurance to cover the liability of the Trustees which by virtue of any rule of law would 
otherwise attach to them in respect of any negligence, default or breach of trust or breach of duty of which they may be guilty 
in relation to the Academy Trust. The Golden Thread Alliance has opted into the Department for Education’s risk protection 
arrangement (RPA), an alternative to insurance where UK government funds cover losses that arise. This scheme protects 
Trustees and officers from claims arising and provides cover up to £10,000,000. It is not possible to quantify the Trustees 
and officers’ indemnity element from the overall cost of the RPA scheme. 
  
d.     Method of recruitment and appointment or election of Trustees 
The management of the Trust is the responsibility of the Trustees, who are appointed, elected, or co-opted under the terms of the 
Articles of Association. The Articles of Association require the appointment of at least three Trustees (unless otherwise determined 
by ordinary resolution) and is not subject to any maximum. The Members can appoint up to 11 Trustees. The Trustees delegate a 
number of functions to constituted Committees, including a Local Governing Body of each academy, via the Trust’s Scheme of 
Delegation. 
 
When a vacancy arises, the Members and Trustees seek to make an appointment that would maximise the skills and attributes to 
enable the Board to comprise appropriately qualified and experienced Trustees. A similar approach is taken at Local Governing 
Body level, where elections may be held in order to gain representative parental and staff views. The Board has no elected Parent 
Trustees as provision for Parent Governors has been established with the appointment of a Local Governing Body for each academy 
under Article 100a.) 
 
Where there is a gap in required skills, the Board ensures that this is addressed either through recruitment with robust and 
transparent processes against a clear articulation of required skills in place, induction or training.  Succession planning is in place to 
ensure the Board, and the whole Trust continues to have the people and leadership it needs to remain effective including a strong 
focus on a diverse Board in terms of age, gender and ethnicity.  
 
There is complete separation between our Members and our Trustees to enable Members to exercise their powers objectively.  This 
ensures a diverse range of perspectives, robust decision making and reduces the risks of concentrating power which provides for 
more robust oversight of the Board.    
 
Four Trustees resigned during this reporting period; Sam Robinson (27 February 2023), Akua Agyepong (31 March 2023), Richard 
Acton (13 May 2023) and Rowena Estwick (6 November 2023).  
 
e.     Policies adopted for the induction and training of Trustees 
Training and induction is tailored to new Trustees appropriate to their requirements and previous experience. All Trustees are 
provided with an induction pack, copies of policies, procedures, minutes, accounts, budgets, plans and other documents that they 
will need to undertake their role as a Trustee of the charitable company. Trustees are provided with external documents such as the 
Academy Trust Handbook, the Charity’s Commission “The Essential Trustee”, the Governance Handbook and Trust Descriptors.  
 
All prospective Trustees are interviewed, adhering to the Safer Recruitment Policy, by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chair of 
the Board of Trustees or another experienced Trustee and are given the opportunity to visit all academies in the Trust.    
 
Safeguarding training is mandatory as part of the induction process for all levels of governance and is also an annual requirement as 
well as all Trustees having to complete the “Certificate in the Role of the Trustee in schools and academies”.   
 

Organisational Structure 
The Trust has no subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates.   
 
The Board of Trustees comprise those persons appointed under the Articles of Association as described earlier herein. Members 
and Trustees are constituted from both the former “The Galaxy Trust” and “The Pathway Academy Trust” both to ensure equity and 
a strong transition when merging to form “The Golden Thread Alliance”. 
 
The Board of Trustees has delegated the day-to-day operational management of the Trust to the Chief Executive Officer who is 
supported by the Trust Strategic Team. The Strategic Team is comprised of the Chief Operating Officer (who is also the Chief 
Financial Officer), two Deputy Chief Executive Officers and Headteachers/Heads of School of the academies within the Trust.  The 
Strategic Team meet on a regular basis to monitor and improve the educational performance and non-educational functions of the 
Trust. The Chief Executive Officer is the Accounting Officer for the Trust.
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 REPORT OF THE TRUSTEES 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
Structure, governance and management - continued 
Organisational Structure - continued 
The Trustees delegate specific responsibilities to the appointed Committees the activities of which are reported at every Board of 
Trustees’ meeting. The Board has constituted the following Committees, with full terms of reference approved and in place: 
 

1. Curriculum and Standards Committee 
2. Finance, Audit and Risk Committee 
3. People and Development Committee 
4. Local Governing Body for each academy 

 
The Scheme of Delegation specifically details which decisions are reserved for the Board of Trustees and those that are delegated 
and to whom. 

 
Arrangements for setting pay and remuneration of key management personnel 
The Chief Executive Officer and Strategic Team are the key management personnel of the Trust. Trustees are also senior 
management although they receive no pay or other remuneration in respect of their role as a Trustee. The pay and remuneration for 
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer is set in line with current business market rates alongside full Board of 
Trustee approval. Trustees undertake a benchmarking exercise with an external company and other recognized sources in relation 
to pay for the Executive Leadership roles. 
 
The Chief Executive Officer is not appointed to the Board of Trustees to ensure clear separation between strategic non-executive 
oversight and operational Trust leadership which supports positive relationships that encourage a professional culture and ethos 
across the Trust. There are no other employees appointed to the Board, no Link Academy Trustees and no LA-associated persons 
or overseas sponsors appointed to the Board. 
 
The Trust continues to follow the National Pay and Conditions for Teachers when setting pay and remuneration for the Deputy Chief 
Executive Officers and Headteachers/Head of School across the Trust. Salary ranges are based on pupil numbers and the nationally 
agreed pay scales. 

 
Trade Union Facility Time 
The Trust has a Trade Union Recognition agreement in place. 
 
Relevant union officials 

 
 

 
 

 
Percentage of time spent on facility time   

 

Percentage of time Number of employees 

0%   N/A 

1%-50%   N/A 

51%-99%   N/A 

100%    N/A 

 
Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time   

 

Total cost of facility time   N/A 

Total pay bill    N/A 

Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time N/A 

 
Paid trade union activities   

 

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of 
total paid facility time hours  

0% 

Number of employees who were relevant union officials 
during the relevant period 

Full-time equivalent employee number     

0 N/A 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 REPORT OF THE TRUSTEES 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
Structure, governance and management - continued 
Related Parties and other Connected Charities and Organisations 
The Trust has no subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates. 
 
The Golden Thread Alliance has a Memorandum of Understanding with the EKC Schools Trust to work collaboratively through the 
Chief Executive Officers to ensure strong external validation, support and challenge around school improvement.  The values, 
mission and vision for both The Golden Thread Alliance and the EKC Schools Trust are aligned and both organisations have a deep 
moral purpose to play a leading role developing the educational and social prosperity of the communities both Trusts serve. There is 
no remuneration for either party for the activities which include meeting regularly to review strategic plans, practices and summary 
evaluations as part of this Trust to Trust partnership. 
 
The Chief Executive Officer, as part of “Curly’s Legacy”, has facilitated the provision of “Farm School” and “Care Farm” activities for 
vulnerable children within the Trust and “Curly’s Farm” is utilised by all schools in the Trust. Curly's Farm is a multi-award winning 
not-for-profit “working farm” that supports the emotional, social, mental health and wellbeing of young people. Vulnerable pupils from 
our academies learn skills to improve confidence, self-esteem and social skills.   
 
Temple Hill Primary Academy has forged a close working relationship with Temple Hill Trust, which amongst other services, 
manages “The Enchanted Woodland,” – an outside green space within Temple Hill housing estate. The space is used by pupils to 
gain Forest School experience. It is anticipated that the Trust will eventually gain overall management control of the woodland, in 
order to benefit pupils from the Trust, as well as the wider community – including other local schools.   
 
The Trust’s membership of the Kent MAT Alliance also facilitates strong peer-to-peer working arrangements in order to provide a 
greater level of school-to-school support and external scrutiny. The Trust has other connections with local teaching schools and 
alliances to strengthen its own capacity. 

 
Engagement with employees (including disabled persons) 

The process of recruitment and selection must be fair, systematic, efficient, and effective, ensuring equality of opportunity. 
Employees must be appointed in accordance with relevant statutory obligations, codes of practice, and in line with relevant policies 
and procedures. Our approach is to ensure the Trust effectively employs people with the right skills at the right time. No job applicant 
or employee will receive less favourable treatment because of their race, sex, religion, or belief, disability, marital or civil partnership 
status, age, pregnancy or maternity, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, or caring responsibilities, or will be disadvantaged by 
conditions or requirements which cannot be justified 
 
The Trust is committed to fostering a culture of co-operation, trust, and mutual respect, where all individuals are treated with fairness 
and dignity and can consequently work at their optimum level. All academies make appropriate provision for disabled persons by 
adapting the physical environment, by making support resources available and though training and career development. 
 
The Trust also recognises that work related stress has a negative impact on staff wellbeing, and that it can take many forms and 
needs to be analysed and addressed at an organisational level. This Staff Wellbeing Policy expands upon the Trust’s Health and 
Safety policy, setting out how schools promote the wellbeing of all staff by:   

• Creating a working environment where there are good management practices, effective human resources policies and staff 
development. 

• Increasing managers’ and staff members’ awareness of the causes and effects of individuals mental and emotional wellbeing. 

• Developing a culture that is open and supportive of people experiencing forms of mental ill-health. 

• Developing managers through introducing them to the competencies proven to improve individual and collective experience at 
work. 

• Engaging with staff to create constructive and effective working partnerships, both within teams and across the school through 
focus groups and working parties. 

• Establishing working arrangements whereby staff feel they can maintain an appropriate work life balance through regular 
reviews and anonymous staff surveys. 

• Encouraging staff to take responsibility for their own health and wellbeing through effective health promotion programmes and 
initiatives. 

• Encouraging staff to take responsibility for their own work effectiveness as a means of reducing their own stress and that of 
their colleagues. 

• The development and monitoring of individual wellbeing risk assessments and plans which include care pathways of support 
both internally and externally. 

• Plans are monitored and reviewed termly to measure effectiveness and identify further required areas of support. Ensuring that 
Safeguarding is at the forefront of any support action for staff and children. 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 REPORT OF THE TRUSTEES 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
Structure, governance and management - continued 
Engagement with employees (including disabled persons) - continued 
The Trust consults and communicates with staff through regular HR briefings, the Chief Executive Officer meeting regularly with 
groups of staff across the academies, regular staff meetings in each academy and surveys to gather feedback as well as signposting 
wellbeing and other support services for staff to be able to access.  Leaflets are produced for staff who do not have easy access to 
a computer and as part of the staff Induction process.  
 
The Trust has a Trade Union Recognition agreement in place and the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer attend 
meetings of the Joint Consultative Committee which take place three times per annum with the first meeting taking place in 
September 2022. 
 
With The Galaxy Trust merging with The Pathway Academy Trust from 1 January 2023, extensive informal and formal consultation 
was undertaken with staff and all stakeholders. 

 

Equal Opportunities 
Trustees recognise that equal opportunities should be an integral part of good practice within the workplace.  The Trust aims to 
establish equal opportunity in all areas of its activities including creating a work environment in which the contribution and needs of 
staff are fully valued. 

 

Engagement with suppliers, customers and others in a business relationship with the Trust 
The Trust recognises that as a public service educational provider it needs to engage with its external stakeholders, which include 
suppliers, service providers and most importantly its parents/carers, children and wider communities, in strict accordance with the 
Seven Principles of Public Life.  The Trust ensures that business relationships with suppliers, customers and other key stakeholders 
are treated with fairness and equality, strict procurement procedures are followed to avoid undue bias and payments are made to 
suppliers within agreed terms and relationships developed with suppliers to enhance the services received.  As part of the merger to 
become The Golden Thread Alliance a full exercise was undertaken to ensure all contracts in place for all nine schools and the Trust 
were both sustainable and gave value for money for the public purse. 

 
OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES 
Objects and Aims 
The principal object of the Trust is the advancement of education in the United Kingdom.  It achieves this object through the 
operation of the nine academies in the Trust based in the boroughs of Dartford and Gravesham, North Kent. The academies 
provide the highest possible standard of education through offering a broad and balanced curriculum. 

 
Objectives, Strategies and Activities 
The Golden Thread Alliance is a multi-academy Trust of nine primary academies. The main aims of the Trust during the year 
ended 31 August 2023 are summarised below.  After extensive due diligence the Trust grew to nine academies and the vision, values 
and key performance indicators were discussed at length with stakeholders. 
  
The Board of Trustees along with the Trust and School Leaders are ambitious for the pupils and families that we serve to enable 
them to gain the best possible outcomes.  The challenge of the Trust Leaders by Trustees is supported by extensive knowledge, 
determination and good judgement to drive continuous school improvement. 
 
The Trust’s clear vision for the future set by the Board, in collaboration with Trust Leaders, which has pupil progress and 
achievement at its heart is communicated to and embodied by the whole Trust.  The values and ethos of the Trust are defined and 
modelled by the Board, and are embedded across the Trust and lived by all staff colleagues. 
 
Trustees strategically plan the medium to long-term strategic goals, key performance indicators and key priorities which are detailed 
within the Trust’s Business Plan and these are understood by all in the Trust.  There is a mechanism in place for regular monitoring 
and review to ensure the performance of the Trust meets it key performance stages.   
 
Strategic change is underpinned by robust due diligence to ensure all areas of the operation of the Trust are reviewed prior to and 
after any Trust expansion. Trustees are determined for strategic change to be in the best interests of our pupils and the Trust, and 
must champion the reasons and benefits of change to all stakeholders.  The Trust Board has instigated a mechanism whereby the 
Local Governing Bodies are the vehicle for the Trust Board engagement with key stakeholders including parents, carers, staff and 
the communities which our academies serve.   
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 REPORT OF THE TRUSTEES 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES - continued 
Objects and Aims - continued 
The Trust Board has put in place effective procedures to identify, monitor and mitigate risk at both school and Trust level and the Trust’s Scheme 

of Delegation and risk registers make clear what risks are managed at what level. The risk registers are reviewed regularly and Trustees fully 
recognise that as the Trust grows there must be a balanced assessment of the risks and opportunities expansion might pose to its existing 
academies. 

 
The Trust’s Vision is that “Every child, in every school, will confidently grasp the challenges of tomorrow.”   
 
The Trust’s values are respect, equality, courage, integrity, ambition, kindness and responsibility. 
 
The Trust’s equality objectives are: 
 
To ensure all pupils achieve to the best of their ability – with a particular focus on deprivation issues (free school meals and pupil 
premium). 

To identify any groups where underachievement is evident and take appropriate steps to address deprivation-related underachievement. 
To identify the steps being taken to close any gaps between most able and least able children who are also disadvantaged. 
 

To support all colleagues within The Golden Thread Alliance in their own personal well-being and professional development – with a 
particular focus on ensuring equality of opportunity when looking at gender and ethnicity. 

• To analyse CPD data, focusing on accessibility of opportunity in relation to gender and ethnicity. 

• To examine gender and ethnicity profiles when focusing on internal promotion. 
 

To develop The Golden Thread Alliance in order to be successful, sustainable and secure – by focusing on equality within 
recruitment. 

• To produce equality promoting literature to be used in all recruitment opportunities. 

• To develop a recruitment policy which places equality as a priority. 
 

To improve the experience of pupils and families from key protected groups through the implementation of The Golden Thread 
Alliance Pledges. 

• A focus from all levels of governance on the whole school experience as well as the outcomes of our Pledge groups. 

• Targeted CPD opportunities for the whole Golden Thread team, specifically related to the Pledges. 
 

To develop comprehensive, outstanding Special Educational Needs and Disabilities provision across The Golden Thread Alliance. 

• Development of a strategic plan for increasing specialist recourse provision (SRP) units and places across each school in The 
Golden Thread Alliance. 

 
Public Benefit 

The Trustees of The Golden Thread Trust can confirm that they have complied with their duty in Section 4 of the Charities Act 2006, 
to have due regard to the guidance published by the Charity Commission, in exercising their powers or duties. In setting the 
objectives and planning the activities, the Trustees have carefully considered the Charity Commissioner’s general guidance on public 
benefit. 
 
The Trust provides a fully comprehensive education to all of the pupils in its care. It fully complies with all statutory guidance and 
seeks to support its wider educational objectives via a strong community role. 
 
As well as all statutory educational activities that are undertaken by individual academies, the Trust works hard to provide a range of 
experiences which promote curriculum enrichment, developing interests outside of the classroom, as well as community 
engagement. 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 REPORT OF THE TRUSTEES 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
STRATEGIC REPORT 
Achievements and Performance 
Key performance indicators and key strategic issues: 
 

The Board of Trustees agreed the following key performance indicators for the Trust: 
1. Ofsted:  All schools in the Golden Thread Alliance are rated “Good” or better by Ofsted. 

 

Performance and Achievement: 
At the date of the report, all schools were rated as “Good” or better by Ofsted.  

 
2. Pupil Outcomes: 

a. All schools within the Golden Thread Alliance achieve, or exceed, the national average in Year 1 Phonics Screening 
Checks. 

b. All schools within the Golden Thread Alliance achieve, or exceed, the national average %, of pupils reaching the 
expected outcome, in each of Reading, Writing and Maths, at the end of Key Stage 2. 

c. Overall, the Trust achieves or exceeds the national average for combined levels of attainment in Reading, Writing 
and Maths at the end of Key Stage 2. 

d. The Trust achieves or exceeds national average progress levels at Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2 in each of Reading 
Writing and Maths. 

 

Performance and Achievement: 
Pupils within the Trust, on average, attended school more often than the national average of 94%. Whole trust attendance for 
the 2022-2023 academic year was 94.2%.  
 
Early Years Foundation Stage 

• The percentage of pupils achieving a “Good Level of Development” (GLD) was 65.4%, broadly in line with the national 
average of 67%. 

• The average percentage of pupils achieving the phonics test pass mark in Year 1 was 81.8% which is 2.9% above the 
national average (78.9%) 

 
Key Stage 1 

• Reading:  The average percentage of pupils achieving the “Expected Standard+” in Reading was 72.5% which is 4.2% 
above the national average (68.3%) and the average percentage of Free School Meal (FSM) pupils achieving 
“Expected Standard+” was 55.3% which is 4.6% above the Local Authority average (50.7%). 

• Writing:  The average percentage of pupils achieving the “Expected Standard+” in Writing was 63.4% which is 3.3% 
above the national average (60.1%) and the average percentage of FSM pupils achieving the “Expected Standard+” 
was 46% which is 4.9% above the Local Authority average (41.1%). 

• Maths:  The average percentage of pupils achieving the “Expected Standard+” in Maths was 74.9% which is 4.5% 
above the national average (70.4%) and the average percentage of FSM pupils achieving the “Expected Standard+” 
was 63.9% which is 9.8% above the Local Authority Average (54.1%). 

 
Key Stage 2 

• The average percentage of pupils achieving the “Expected Standard+” in Writing was 76.6% which is 5.6% above the 
national average (71%) and the average percentage of FSM pupils achieving the “Expected Standard+” in Writing was 
67.8% which is 11.4% above the Local Authority Average (56.4%) 

• The average percentage of pupils achieving the “Expected Standard+” for Reading, Writing and Maths (the “Combined” 
score) was 60.6% which is 1.6% above the national average (59%) and the average percentage of FSM pupils 
achieving the “Expected Standard+” for the “Combined” score was 43.8% which is 4.7% above the Local Authority 
Average (39.1%) 

• The average progress pupils made from Key Stage 1 to Key Stage 2 in Reading was -0.4. This was marginally above 
the Local Authority average of -0.5.  

• The average progress pupils made from Key Stage 1 to Key Stage 2 in Writing was 0.1. This was above the national 
and Local Authority average  

• The average progress pupils made from Key Stage 1 to Key Stage 2 in Maths was -0.5. This was above the Local 
Authority average of -1.1 

• The detailed outcomes of all nine academies for the 2022-20 23 academic year are detailed below. 
 

..
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REPORT OF THE TRUSTEES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 

 
STRATEGIC REPORT - continued 
Achievements and Performance - continued 
Key performance indicators and key strategic issues: - continued 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 REPORT OF THE TRUSTEES 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
STRATEGIC REPORT - continued 
Achievements and Performance - continued 
Key performance indicators and key strategic issues: - continued 

 
3. The Golden Thread Alliance is considered to be strong, stable, secure, and sustainably by clearly demonstrating: 

a. Good financial security with “green”, external audits for 2023, 2024 and 2025. 
b. A sustainable surplus of funds, (reserves) considering national and local factors with any fund above the recommended 

reserve level being redistributed to individual schools. 
c. All teaching positions to be filled at the start of each academic year. 
d. Governance is judged to be strong at all levels as evidenced through self-evaluation, external review, and Ofsted 

inspection reports. 
e. All senior vacancies are advertised and showcased internally alongside external advertising. 
f. Aspiring and established leaders are given opportunities to further develop. 

 

Performance and Achievement: 
 
The level of reserves set by the Board and achieved makes the Trust financially sound and stable.  

 
Our academies’ teaching positions were fully staffed from September 2023. 
 
The External Review of Governance undertaken in Autumn 2022 recognised the strength of governance at all tiers of the 
organisation. 
 
Both internal and external applicants were shortlisted for the Trust School Improvement team roles and with the expansion of 
the Trust this brought many new opportunities on offer for all staff to professionally develop whilst being deployed in any of the 
nine academies which supports retention, particularly of strong leaders.  

 
4. The Golden Thread Alliance is in a strong position for future growth by: 

a. Supporting a well-structured and highly skilled central service team. 
b. Demonstrating the capacity to support schools currently outside of the Trust. 
c. Having a well-developed School Improvement Strategy and an associated attractive offer that has a proven track record 

of success. 
 

Performance and Achievement: 
The Central Team has a high level of expertise in the areas of governance (with a nationally recognised “outstanding” 
Governance Professional), HR, finance, business operations and School Improvement.  The School Improvement Strategy is 
in place and is based on the Trust’s vision for every academy’s capacity to improve. It has been shaped by the concept of 
strong collaboration so that the skills and talents that exist within the Trust, can be of benefit to all pupils at every academy. 

 
5. Staff well-being is rated good or better in the Golden Thread Alliance by: 

a. Positive staff feedback through surveys and focus groups. 
b. Lower than national average absence rates for leaders, teachers and support staff. 
c. A robust system of staff support and benefits. 
d. A recruitment and retention strategy that demonstrates a trend of less mobility, greater well-being, and improved 

recruitment outcomes. 
 

Performance and Achievement: 
The Chief Executive Officer regularly meets with a variety of staff groups for an open and honest dialogue.  
There is a full Trust benefits package in place including two additional term-time days off to support wellbeing.  
Staff wellbeing surveys give the opportunity to evidence to staff that they views are listened to, valued and acted upon. 
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STRATEGIC REPORT - continued 
Achievements and Performance - continued 
Key performance indicators and key strategic issues: - continued 
 
6. Environmental Sustainability 

The Golden Thread Alliance recognises its responsibility as an educational provider to: 
a. Protect the environment for current and future generations. 
b. Continuing the journey to become net zero by: 

- Enabling all sites to provide electric car charging by 2024. 
- Reducing direct and indirect emissions from all schools to meet legislative targets. 
- Providing opportunities for children to engage practically in the transition to net zero by 2030. 

 

Performance and Achievement: 
The COO and CEO ran an ECO summit in June 2023 where Trustees, LGB members, leaders, staff and children 
were invited to take part.  The Summit was a real success with many ideas and projects now being implemented 
across the nine schools in The Trust. 
Further projects are taking place in relation to LED lighting, solar panels and EV chargers. 
The COO and DCEO are meeting with the ECO Ambassadors of each school and leaders to help promote and 
support getting the schools to achieve the Net Zero Target of 2030. 

 

7. Equality 
The Golden Thread Alliance will demonstrate each of its seven core values, though its work on EQUALITY: 

a. Pledge Plans in place at each school demonstrate a commitment to supporting children and families within each 
identified group (SEND, Pupil Premium, Black and Asian Families, LAC and PLAC children, Different Families) 

b. All schools have accessibility plans in place with urgent actions to be completed by September 2023 and 
recommendations to be prioritised for completion during 2023- 2024. 

c. Leaders at all levels are, as a minimum, representative of their school communities. 
 

Performance and Achievement: 
Regular briefings and CPD sessions, led by the CEO, offer context, rationale and further explanation of the reasons 
why we focus on Equality, and specifically the Pledge Groups within our organization.  These sessions are held for 
new staff starting employment, colleagues and all levels of governance. 
In the 2022-2023 school year, the outcomes for pledge groups were not as forensically analysed and tracked as 
they should have been, and this has been a great learning point for the next academic year. We are determined to 
narrow the gap – particularly for disadvantaged children, which is why future strategies include our Disadvantaged 
Strategy and our Strategy for Attendance, 
Accessibility was an ongoing focus for this academic year, with a focus on the accessibility needs for pupils and 
staff alike. The detailed needs analysis carried out for any staff member with a disability or health need meant that 
we have been able to offer safe, secure and accessible workplaces for several colleagues with those needs. 
Through one-to-one meetings held on a fortnightly basis, as well as specific performance objectives set through 
appraisal, we can identify the positive equality behaviours that all senior leaders demonstrate.  There is a clear 
expectation that colleagues are a good “fit” within the organization if they demonstrate behaviours around tolerance, 
understanding, good listening, advocacy.  
Pledge Plans have been in place and have held each school to account for the work that has been undertaken – 
such as each school’s work to be more inclusive in their curriculum (more representative in terms of ethnicity, 
religion and gender), but now we are at a positive juncture, where Pledge Plans, or rather the type of objectives that 
we would expect to see in a separate Pledge Plan, are now to be incorporated in to the overall School Development 
Plans, as we recognise how integral the value of Equality is, within our organization – and it is not a bolt on.   
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Key Financial Performance Indicators 

 

The Golden Thread Alliance 

Total Staff Costs 18,320,697 

Salary Costs to ESFA/LA Revenue Income (%) 82.20 

Salary Costs to Total Income (excluding transfer in of existing 
academy) (%) 73.19 

Salary Costs as % Total Expenditure 74.11 

FTE Teaching Staff 189.48 

FTE Support Staff 237.79 

Total FTE 427.27 

Total Pupil Numbers (October 2022 census) 4685 

Pupil Teaching Ratio (Based on October census 2022) 24.73 

 
Going Concern 

After making appropriate enquiries and having considered the requirements in the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) guidance 
“Going Concern Basis of Accounting and Reporting on Solvency and Liquidity Risks” and the Education Skills and Funding Agency 
guidance “Going Concern”, the Board of Trustees has a reasonable expectation that the Trust has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
financial statements. Further details regarding the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the Statement of Accounting 
Policies. 

 
Promoting success of the charity 
Trustees promote the success of the Trust to achieve its charitable purposes in numerous ways, including: 

• Reflecting on any strategic decisions being made, having regard for, but not exclusively, the consequences in the short term 
and long term of any decision may have. This includes robust discussions within Board meetings, pre-posed questions to the 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer prior to any meeting, to allow proper preparation, wider reading and 
research, as well as the confidence to delay any strategic decision until trustees are sure of the consequences in the longer 
term. 

• Having due regard to the interests of the Trust’s employees, Trustees established a reporting mechanism with Senior Leaders 
to ensure that staff wellbeing is on Board meeting agendas. 

• Needing to foster the company’s relationships with suppliers, customers and others. This has been achieved through internal 
audit systems, ensuring all invoices are paid within the relevant timescale, as well as ongoing feedback reports, directly to 
Trustees – such as Ofsted-style parent questionnaires. 

• Having consideration of the impact of the Trust’s operations on the community and the environment. This is achieved by 
building good relationships with the local council, taking part in local environmental schemes, such as litter picking schemes, 
and establishing an air quality monitoring project across all four academies of the Trust. 

• Considering the desirability of the Trust in maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct. This is evident by a 
robust internal audit system and highly positive audit reports, conducted by auditors appointed by the Members on a 
recommendation of the Board. Trustees, in addition, pay particular attention to Ofsted judgments of the schools, and track 
progress through the Curriculum and Standards Committee. 

• Needing to act fairly as between members of the Trust. This is achieved through the Trustee and Local Governor Code of 
Conduct, as well as all relevant policies and procedures, approved at Board level. 
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The Trustees review the reserve levels of the academies annually which the Board of Trustees has set at one months running costs 
for The Trust as whole. The level of reserves at 31 August 2023 are 13.8% of the GAG. The review encompasses the nature of the 
income and expenditure streams, the need to match income with commitments and the nature of reserves. Once the Trust was 
established and within two years of operation the Trustees determined that any revenue balances will automatically be transferred 
over to the Trust. The reasoning for transferring revenue surpluses across will enable the Trust to build up enough reserves to cover 
the costs of one month’s expenditure for each school, in case of any failure of funds from the ESFA. 
 
The Trust held fund balances at 31 August 2023 of £58,579,949 (2022: £34,859,504) comprising £58,299,966 (2022: £34,684,973) 
of restricted funds and £279,983 (2022: £174,531) of unrestricted general funds. Of the restricted funds, £55,831,380 (2022: 
£33,470,997) is represented by tangible fixed assets and £2,087,551 (2022: £1,202,528) general restricted funds. The Pension 
reserve which is considered part of restricted funds was £nil (2022: £911,000 in deficit). 

 

b. Investment Policy 
The Trust’s Articles gives Trustees the power “to expend the funds of the Academy Trust in such manner as they shall consider most 
beneficial for the achievement of the Objects and to invest in the name of the Academy Trust such part of the funds as they may see 
fit and to direct the sale or transposition of any such investments and to expend the proceeds of any such sale in furtherance of the 
Objects”.  
 
Whilst the Board of Trustees has responsibility for the Trust’s finances, the Scheme of Delegation approved by the Board delegates 
certain responsibilities to the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee.  The Committee has the responsibility to approve the Investments 
Policy to manage, control and track financial exposure, and ensure value for money and review the Trust’s investments on a regular 
basis.   

 
Objectives 
The investment objectives are: 

• to achieve best financial return available whilst ensuring that security of deposits takes precedence over revenue maximisation; 

• only invest funds surplus to operational need based on all financial commitments being met without the Academy bank account 
becoming overdrawn; and 

• by complying with this policy, all investment decisions should be exercised with care and skill and consequently be in the best 
interests of the Trust, commanding broad public support. 

 
Investment strategy 
Investment risk will be managed through asset class selection and diversification to ensure that security of deposits takes 
precedence over revenue maximisation. 
 
For selection, assets will only be considered with banking institutions which have credit ratings assessed to show good credit quality. 
 
To manage the risk of default, deposits should be spread by banking institution and be subject to a maximum exposure of £500,000 
with any PRA authorised institution by the Bank of England (refer to Financial Conduct Authority (FCA). Whilst this exceeds the 
protection limit of £75,000 provided by the FCA it is accepted that it is not always practicable to find a sufficient number of 
investments of this size that meet the prudent criteria outlined in this policy. 

  
FINANCIAL REVIEW 

 

a. Reserves Policy 

At 31 August 2023 the total funds comprised: 

Unrestricted £279,983 
Restricted: Fixed asset funds £56,212,415 

Pension reserve £0 

Other £2,087,551 

Total £58,579,949 
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Spending and liquidity policy 
A sufficient balance must be held in the current account so that the Trust’s financial commitments can always be met without the 
bank account going overdrawn. The size of the balance will be determined by a forecast of future need and kept under review. 
 
Investments for a fixed term should not normally exceed one year in order to provide flexibility for the following year’s plans unless a 
clear rationale is provided for exceeding one year to the benefit of the Trust. 
  
Monitoring and review 
The Trust has authorised signatories, two of which are required to sign instructions to the deposit taking institution. 
 
The Chief Financial Officer monitors the cash position and cash flow forecast and report investments held and the performance of 
investments against objectives to the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee at appropriate intervals, depending on the terms of the 
investments. For example, if investments are held one year, then an annual report is appropriate. The Investment Policy is reviewed 
annually by the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee.  
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties 

The Board of Trustees assesses the major risks to which the Trust is exposed, in particular to those relating to academic and 
financial risk as well as recognising that the Trust’s estate is both an asset and a mechanism to deliver outcomes for pupils.  
 
The Golden Thread Alliance is committed to providing a safe and secure environment for all occupants within our educational 
establishments. We recognize the paramount importance of compliance with statutory duties to ensure the health and safety of 
building occupants. 
 
The Golden Thread Alliance rigorously adheres to all relevant local, national, and international health and safety regulations, 
including but not limited to the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, and the Control 
of Asbestos Regulations 2012. 
 
We conduct regular, thorough risk assessments of our premises to identify and evaluate potential hazards. These assessments are 
reviewed and updated as necessary, and appropriate measures are put in place to mitigate identified risks. 
 
Our staff members receive ongoing training and education in health and safety protocols, ensuring they are well-informed and 
equipped to handle emergencies and maintain a safe environment. This includes fire safety training, first aid training, and specific 
training related to hazardous materials. 
 
We have established clear and effective emergency response plans, which are communicated to all stakeholders. Regular drills and 
exercises are conducted to ensure that occupants are familiar with evacuation procedures and other safety protocols. 
 
We implement a structured program for regular maintenance, servicing, and inspection of our facilities. This includes the monitoring 
of essential systems such as, boilers, fire alarms, extinguishers, emergency lighting, and ventilation, among others. 
 
We have appointed a designated consultancy company (Judicium) who are responsible for overseeing compliance with health and 
safety regulations. The external consultant reports and internal reports are submitted to both the Local Governing Bodies and the 
Finance, Audit and Risk Committee to ensure compliance with all health and safety requirements for building occupants. 
  
These individuals conduct periodic audits and assessments to verify adherence to statutory duties. We also maintain comprehensive 
records of all health and safety activities, including risk assessments, training, maintenance, and emergency response drills, to 
demonstrate our commitment to compliance.  
 
Through engagement with employees, parents, and visitor we foster a culture of safety awareness. Feedback and concerns related 
to health and safety are encouraged and addressed promptly. 
 
The Trust is committed to ensuring that all occupants, including those with disabilities or specific needs, have equal access to a safe 
and secure environment. We conduct three yearly accessibility assessments and make necessary adjustments to our facilities. 
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties – continued 

 

The Golden Thread Alliance and its academies endeavours to go above and beyond statutory requirements, creating an 
environment where the health and safety of our building occupants is paramount. We remain dedicated to continuous improvement 
and adaptation to evolving best practices in health and safety management. 
 
Over the last four years the Dartford academies have been successful in benefitting from over £10mn of Condition Improvement 
Funding to ensure they are warm, safe, sustainable, and dry.  With the growth of the Trust to nine schools and no longer meeting 
the criteria to apply for Condition Improvement Funding, we will benefit from School Condition Allocation funding going forward.  
External consultants have been appointed to carry out Condition Surveys across the academies to prioritise any works required. 

 
With the expansion to nine academy sites, Trustees have a strategic and long-term view of investment and expenditure across the 
whole estate reviewing: 

• the size, location, age and condition of buildings and land in the estate 

• land ownership, tenure and constraints 

• how effectively the current facilities meet the specific educational needs of the school 

• available capital funding and the future aspirations for the estate 

• area based considerations of the need for places or spare capacity in the system 
 

The practice of GAG pooling has been considered as part of the Trust merger as Trustees recognise the ability to amalgamate and 
direct funds to meet improvement priorities (including estates management) and need across the Trust’s academies is integral to the 
Trust’s successful financial operating model, however this is not in practice. 
 
Our risk management strategy aims to: 

• outline the roles and responsibilities for risk management 

• identify risk management processes to ensure that all risks are appropriately identified, controlled and monitored 

• ensure appropriate levels of awareness throughout the Trust 
 

This Trust Risk Register highlights the key risks facing the Trust, as well as a breakdown for each key strategic aim.  The Trust’s 
Risk Register is in place alongside the individual academy risk registers which are  in place.  Trustees implemented a number of 
systems to assess the risks the Trust faced, particularly around the operational areas and in relation to the control of finance. 
Mitigating controls were introduced around operational procedures and internal financial controls in order to minimise risk and these 
have been monitored throughout the year. Where any significant financial risk still remains, the Trust has adequate insurance cover. 
 
The Risk Management Standard states that risk identification should be approached in a methodical way to ensure that all significant 
activities have been identified and all the risks flowing from these activities have been defined. Our approach to risk management, 
which is reviewed annually, is linked to five key areas where the level of risk and key mitigating factors are clearly defined: 
 

• Organisational capacity and leadership  

• Governance and Finance  

• Health and Safety  

• Educational Standards  

• Business Continuity  

 
Fundraising 

The Trust is aware of the six principles that should be followed to help the Trust meet its responsibilities for charity fundraising. 
Effective control is taken over fundraising to ensure the Trust is compliant with its legal duties which include: 

• acting in the best interests of the charity 

• managing the charity’s resources responsibly, which includes protecting and safeguarding its reputation 

• acting with reasonable care and skill 
 

The monitoring of fundraising is carried out and reported to the Board of Trustees.  
There have been no fundraising complaints. 
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Streamlined energy and carbon reporting 

 
UK Greenhouse gas emissions and energy use data for 

the period 

1 September 2022 

to 31 August 2023 

1 September 2021 to 

31 August 2022 

Energy consumption used to calculate emissions (kWh) 3,398,636 1,923,420 
 

Energy consumption break down (kWh) (optional) 

• gas, 

• electricity 

• transport fuel 

 
2,279,868 
1,095,133 

23,634 
 

 
1,178,041 
731,338 
14,041 

 

Scope 1 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e Gas 

consumption 

Owned transport – mini-buses Total - 

scope 1 tCO2e 

 

416.21 

6 

422.21tCo2e 

 

 

215.04 

3.96 

219 tCo2e 

Scope 2 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 

 
Purchased electricity 
TOTAL - scope 2 tCO2e 

 
 
 

226.8tCo2e 

 
 
 

141.4 tCo2e 

Scope 3 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 

 
Business travel in employee-owned vehicles 

  

 
 

Total gross emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 649 tCo2e 360.4 tCo2e 

Intensity ratio 

Tonnes CO2e per pupil 

 
0.13 tCo2e 

 
0.14tCo2e 

 
Quantification and Reporting Methodology: 
The Trust has followed the 2019 HM Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines and used the GHG Reporting Protocol – 
Corporate Standard and the 2022 UK Government’s Conversion Factors for Company Reporting. 
 
Intensity measurement 
The chosen intensity measurement ratio is total gross emissions in metric tonnes CO2e per pupil, which is the recommended ratio 
for the sector. 
 
Measures taken to improve energy efficiency 

• The Trust has introduced widespread Teams meetings to reduce the level of carbon footprint for staff, Trustees and Governors. 

• There are discussions with a provider in respect of the public sector decarbonisation scheme with a view to carrying out 
condition surveys across the schools in the Trust and applying for grants to reduce our output of tCO2e 

• Meetings with various environmental sustainability companies has taken place with short to long term plans being drawn up to 
help all schools achieve the 2030 NetZero target. Some initiatives that are taking place are energy monitoring devices where 
the children can be actively involved in understanding the energy usage and how the consequences of their actions can help 
reduce their carbon footprint, with the monitoring linked to lesson plans and the curriculum.  

• Further projects are taking place in relation to LED lighting, solar panels and EV chargers. 

• The COO and DCEO are meeting with the ECO Ambassadors of each school and leaders to help promote and support getting 
the schools to achieve the Net Zero Target of 2030. 

• LED lighting will be installed across all academies to reduce the consumption of electricity along with renewable energy 
sources. 

• The Trust held the first of its Annual Energy Summit with all stakeholders (parents, staff, Trustees, Governors and pupils) to 
shape the vision and plan for the future of all stakeholders to make our academies more eco-friendly, energy efficient and 
climate change fluent.   



Page 18 

THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 

REPORT OF THE TRUSTEES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 

STRATEGIC REPORT - continued 

Plans for future periods 
With the Trust’s appetite to support other schools and following the successful merger and the creation of the “hub” model of the 
organisation, the Trust Business Plan details the future stage of the Trust’s expansion and growth plans.   With the Trust’s 
extensive knowledge and expertise in providing specialist resource provision in the areas of dyslexia, hearing impairment, autism 
spectrum disorder as well as speech, language a focus on the rea of supporting pupils with Special Educational Needs and Disability 
underpin our future plans. 

Funds held as custodian trustee on behalf of others 
The Academy Trust or its Trustees do not act as custodian Trustees for any third parties. 

Auditor 
Insofar as the Trustees are aware: 

• there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company's auditors are unaware, and

• that Trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

The Trustees' Report, incorporating a strategic report, was approved by order of the Board of Trustees, as the company 
directors, on 6 December 2023 and signed on its behalf by: 

 …………………………………… 
Philip Vander Gucht 
Chair of Trustees 

Date:  6 December 2023 
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Scope of Responsibility 
As trustees, we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that The Golden Thread Alliance has an effective and 
appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise. However such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk 
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement of loss.  

As Trustees, we have reviewed and taken account of the guidance in Department for Education’s “Governance Handbook” and 
“Competency Framework for Governance.” 

The board of trustees has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the Chief Executive Officer, as accounting officer, for ensuring 
financial controls conform with the requirements of both propriety and good financial management and in accordance with the 
requirements and responsibilities assigned to it in the funding agreement between The Golden Thread Alliance and the Secretary of 
State for Education.  They are also responsible for reporting to the board of trustees any material weaknesses or breakdowns in 
internal control.  

Governance 
The information on governance included here supplements that described in the Report of the Trustees and in the Statement of 
Trustees' Responsibilities. The board of trustees has formally met 7 times during the year. Attendance during the year at meetings of 
the board of trustees was as follows:  

 Trustee Meetings attended Out of a possible 
P Vander Gucht (Chair) 7 7 
R Acton (appointed 1.1.23, resigned 13.5.23) 2 2 
A Agyepong (resigned 31.3.23) 3 5 
D Bramer (appointed 1.1.23) 4 4 
R Estwick-Brown (resigned 6.11.23) 6 7 
A Konarzewski  6 7 
J Margetson (appointed 1.1.23) 4 4 
J Meekums (appointed 1.1.23) 1 4 
J Nijjar (appointed 1.1.23) 3 4 
S Phillips 4 7 
S Robinson (resigned 27.2.23)  1 4 
J Rouncefield 7 7 
V Stretton 5 7 
T Whelan 7 7 

Full responsibility for its financial affairs, stewardship of assets and use resources efficiently to maximise outcomes for pupils. 

The Committee met regularly enough to discharge their responsibilities and attendance was as follows: 

 Trustee Meetings attended Out of a possible 
Akua Agyepong (resigned 31 March 2023) 2 2 
Jenniefer Margetson (appointed 1 January 2023) 2 2 
Jasdip Nijjar (appointed 1 January 2023) 2 2 
Jasdip Nijjar (appointed 1 January 2023) 3 3 
Philip Vaender Gucht 2 3 

Key changes in the composition of the Board of Trustees 
With the merger of “The Galaxy Trust” and “The Pathway Academy Trust” to form “The Golden Thread Alliance” on 1 January 2023, 
Trustees from both Trusts serve on the Board to ensure equity of strength in the wealth of skills and experience. The Board of 
Trustees has a collective background in the areas of primary and secondary education (both at school and high strategic 
consultancy level), governance in education, accountancy, and finance both in the public and private sector, commercial business 
and growth strategy planning, professional experience in the field of Equality, Inclusion and Diversity and recruitment.   

The independent Trustees have an extensive range of expertise covering primary and secondary education (both at school and high 
strategic consultancy level), governance in education, accountancy, and finance both in the public and private sector, commercial 
business and growth strategy planning, professional experience in the field of Equality, Inclusion and Diversity and global HR and 
people management.  
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The coverage of its work 
In addition to the Board meeting all statutory responsibilities during the reporting period, significant work was carried out in relation to 
due diligence in preparation of the merger to form “The Golden Thread Alliance”.  This work was extensive and the time 
commitment of Trustees significantly increased during this period.  With the constituted Committees, there was equity in terms of 
Trustees reviewing the due diligence outcomes in all areas along with extensive discussions at meetings of the Board.  

 
Trustees also continued to enhance communication across the governance groups with the Annual Governance conference with 
collaboration across all of the governance groups to share and discuss the values, vision and strategic direction of the Trust. The 
three core functions of governance are discussed along with clarity around roles and responsibilities and the Trust and academies’ 
key priorities to ensure shared language and understanding by all. 
 
The board's performance, including assessment of its own effectiveness and any particular challenges that have arisen for 
the board 
The Board of Trustees continued to assess and monitor the risks associated with the opening of the academies in relation to 
safeguarding and health and safety of all pupils and staff and carry out all of its statutory duties.  An external review of governance 
took place as well as self-review to ensure strong challenge and support of the Trust Executive by the Board. 

 
Information about the quality of the data used by the Board 
Trustees receive key indicators in terms of pupil performance which are benchmarked against national figures.  There was no 
published data in the three academic years between 2019 and 2022 inclusive however, as noted earlier in this report, the Board 
of Trustees constituted a  Curriculum and Standards Committee to work with Senior Leaders during this academic year to further 
develop a standardised system of pupil performance assessment reporting across all of the academies in the Trust. This allows 
Trustees and Governors to carry out their role in monitoring and evaluating the standards and achievement of all pupils across 
the academies in the Trust both benchmarked across the Trust and nationally.   Management accounts are submitted on a monthly 
basis and detailed financial reporting is submitted to every Board of Trustees meeting as well as each Finance, Audit and Risk 
Committee meeting. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
The Trust has no subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates.  

 
Trustees have met their legal duty to act only in the best interests of the charity and take appropriate steps to identify possible 
conflicts of interest at an early stage and taking appropriate action to avoid, eliminate or manage in order for them to properly 
administer the charity.  Trustees’ personal and professional connections bring benefits to the work of the Trust and they often form 
part of the reason why the individual has been asked to join the Board. The existence of a conflict of interest does not reflect on the 
integrity of the affected Trustee, so long as it is properly addressed. 

 
Trustees acknowledge the principles applying to related party relationships to ensure the Trust must be even-handed in their 
relationships with related parties.  Trustees ensure sufficient records are kept, and make sufficient disclosures in these annual 
accounts, to show that transactions with these parties, and all other related parties, have been conducted in accordance with the 
high standards of accountability and transparency required within the public sector.   

 
Where there is a conflict of interest, Trustees ensure the written record of the decision evidences the following: 

• the nature of the conflict 

• which Trustee or Trustees were affected 

• whether any conflicts of interest were declared in advance 

• an outline of the discussion 

• whether anyone withdrew from the discussion 

• how the Trustees took the decision in the best interests of the charity 
 

Members, Trustees and Governors make declarations annually and also formally at every governing body meeting to ensure the 
Trust’s register of interests is kept up-to-date at all times and used in the day-to-day management and governance of the Trust.  
The Trust meets the requirement to publish the registers of the websites and the registers capture the relevant business and 
pecuniary interests of Members, Trustees, Local Governors and the Accounting Officer, including:  

 

• directorships, partnerships and employments with businesses; 

• trusteeships and governorships at other educational institutions and charities;  

• material interests from close family relationships between the Trust’s Members, Trustees or Governors and also the material    
interests of those individuals and employees. 
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Related Party Transactions 
Some relationships with related parties may attract greater public scrutiny, such as: 

• transactions with individuals in a position of control and influence, including the Chair of the Board of Trustees and the
Accounting Officer;

• payments to organisations with a profit motive, as opposed to those in the public or voluntary sectors; and

• relationships with external auditors beyond their duty to deliver a statutory audit.

Trustees acknowledge the principles applying to related party relationships to ensure the Trust must be even-handed in their 
relationships with related parties.  Trustees ensure sufficient records are kept, and make sufficient disclosures in these annual 
accounts, to show that transactions with these parties, and all other related parties, have been conducted in accordance with the 
high standards of accountability and transparency required within the public sector.   

Meetings 
The Board of Trustees met regularly enough (seven meetings) to discharge their responsibilities and ensure robust governance and 
effective management arrangements. 

Governance Reviews 
An external review of governance was undertaken by a National Leader of Governance in Autumn 2022 in preparation for the 
merger of “The Galaxy Trust” and “The Pathway Academy Trust” to form “The Golden Thread Alliance”.  Governance of the Trust 
was seen as a strength with pupils’ successes whether focused on outcome, personal development or inclusion being at the heart of 
the organisation.  Bi-ennial self-evaluation takes place for Trustees and Governors or sooner if there are significant changes to the 
composition to the Boards and governance action plans are produced and monitored to ensure the strengths remain in place and 
any weakness are addressed. 

Finance 
The Finance, Audit and Risk Committee is formally established as a Committee of the Board of Trustees of The Golden Thread 
Alliance.  The Committee has delegated responsibility from the Board for financial scrutiny and oversight of the systems and 
operational controls, advising the Board on the adequacy of the Trust’s internal control framework, including financial and 
non-financial controls and risk management arrangements, to direct a programme of internal scrutiny and consider the results and 
quality of external audit.  The Committee meets not less than three times a year and reports to the Board of Trustees.  The role of 
the Committee is to support the Board in maintaining the Trust as a going concern, in taking full responsibility for its financial affairs, 
stewardship of assets and use resources efficiently to maximise outcomes for pupils.   

The Committee met regularly enough to discharge their responsibilities and attendance was as follows: 

Trustee Meetings Attended Out of a possible 
Akua Agyepong (resigned 31 March 2023) 2 2 

Jenniefer Margetson (appointed 1 January 2023) 2 2 
Jasdip Nijjar (appointed 1 January 2023)  2 2 

Tom Whelan (Chair) 3 3 
Philip Vender Gucht 2 3 
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Committee Work Programme 
The scope and remit within the Committee’s Term of Reference is as follows: 

The Committee received regular reports throughout the year in accordance with its agreed Annual Work Programme including: 

• Monthly management accounts:  these are received by the Chair of the Committee (as well as the Chair of the Board) which
include an income and expenditure account, variation to budget report, cash flows and balance sheet.  The monthly
management accounts are also made available to all Trustees via sharepoint on a monthly basis to have a mechanism in
place for all Trustees to pose questions.

• Budget monitoring for each school and the Trust accompanied by variation explanations.

• Pupil number estimates which underpin revenue projections.

• The Trust’s Risk register.

• Compliance Tracker for new reporting requirements of the Academy Trust Handbook which is updated and published
annually by the Education and Skills Funding Agency.

• Proposed bids and outcome of the annual Condition Improvement Fund bids, including any appeals.

• Premises and maintenance project updates along with health and safety monitoring.

The Committee has also received the following specific reports for review/approval: 

• Draft annual accounts for The Golden Thread Alliance 2021-2022 and letter of comment from the External Auditor for the
Year Ending 31st August 2022 along with the Management Response

• Internal audit/scrutiny reports for 2021-2022 and 2022-2023

• Timeline for the preparation of the annual accounts 2022-2023 and associated Academies Accounts Direction

• Three year financial plan and draft budgets for the 2023-2024 academic year

• Education and Skills Funding Agency Schedule of Requirements (the “MUSTS”)

• Benchmarking comparative data

• Cybercrime Internal Review and Action Response Plan

• Risk Management Strategy for review

• Trust Reserves Policy for review

• Disposal write-off of IT equipment request

• Report and quotations for the scope of works to fencing at Meopham Community Academy

• Academy Trust Risk Management – Department for Education Guidance

The following report could not be provided to the Committee this year: 

• Annual General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) Audit Report:  this was due to a change in the Data Protection Officer
and the audit being carried out in Autum 2023 and not Summer 2023.

This Committee ensures the Chair joins the Performance Management Panel for the Chief Finance Officer and the Committee 
is responsible for reviewing and approving polices pursuant to the policy cycle of review and delegation. 

Conclusion of the Work of the Committee 
The Committee’s robust work programme and any escalations to Board of Trustees provides assurance that the Committee 
continues to be effective in discharging its responsibilities and can assure the Board of Trustees that the Trust continues to 
remain a going concern, evidenced by: 

• financial plans are prepared and monitored, satisfying the Committee that the Trust remains a going concern and is
financially sustainable;

• a longer term view of the Trust’s financial plans is taken which is consistent with the requirement to submit three-year budget
forecasts to the Education and Skills Funding Agency; and

• reviews as part of the Board’s management of the Trust’s funds, a policy for holding reserves.



Page 23 

THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 

Review of value for money 
As Accounting Officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for ensuring that the Trust delivers good value in the use 
of public resources. The Accounting Officer understands that value for money refers to the educational and wider societal 
outcomes, as well as estates safety and management, achieved in return for the taxpayer resources received. 

The Accounting Officer considers how the Trust’s use of its resources has provided good value for money during each 
academic year, and reports to the Board of Trustees where value for money can be improved, including the use of 
benchmarking data where appropriate. The Accounting Officer for the Trust has delivered improved value for money during 
the year by: 

• All works supported by the Condition Improvement Funding were completed prior to the move to capital funding.

• All contracts for utility providers were reviewed across all of the academies prior to merger to ensure contracts gave value for
money with stronger buying power along with key premises personnel shared between academies to pool extensive estates
management knowledge.  The signing in system in the Dartford academies was extended to the Gravesham schools to
ensure value for money and provide additional safeguarding procedures for all staff, pupils and visitors to the academies.

• Establishing a number of reciprocal monitoring arrangements with other Chief Executive Officers and Trusts to provide open
and honest monitoring activities, without the cost of a consultant, as the arrangement is reciprocated.

• Using the talents and expertise of school and central staff to share good practice, leading on a number of school
improvement projects across the whole Trust.

• Ensuring adequate support centrally, to support School Leaders in freeing up their time to focus on teaching and learning.

• Further developing Trust staff to offer their expertise outside of the Trust, providing support to others, in turn for a charge.

• Building capacity in the Trust School Improvement Team in order to more closely monitoring all aspects of school-level
outcomes, including attendance, suspensions, exclusions and attainment.

The purpose of the system of internal control 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to 
achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can, therefore, only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement 
of academy trust policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should 
they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively, and economically. The system of internal control has been in 
place at the Trust for the period 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and 
financial statements. 

Capacity to handle risk 
It is the management’s responsibility to develop and maintain sound systems of risk management, internal control and 
governance and for the prevention and detection of irregularities and fraud. Trustees acknowledge their responsibility to 
ensure that those systems and procedures are operating effectively.  

The Board of Trustees has reviewed the key risks to which the Trust is exposed together with the operating, financial and 
compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The Board of Trustees is of the view that there is a 
formal on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the Trust's significant risks that has been in place for the 
period 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements. This 
process is regularly reviewed by the Board of Trustees. 
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The risk and control framework 
The Trust’s system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management information and administrative 
procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and accountability. In particular, it includes: 

• comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic financial reports which are reviewed
and agreed by the Board of Trustees

• regular reviews by the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee of reports which indicate financial performance against the
forecasts and of major purchase plans, capital works and expenditure programmes

• setting targets to measure financial and other performance

• clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines

• delegation of authority and segregation of duties

• identification and management of risks

Internal Audit 
The Board of Trustees has decided to employ Kreston Reeves as internal auditor.  This option has been chosen as Kreston 
Reeves role includes giving advice on financial and other matters and performing a range of checks on the Trust’s financial 
and other systems.  Kreston Reeves on an annual basis reports to the Board of Trustees, through the Finance, Audit and 
Risk committee on the operation of the systems of control and on the discharge of the Board of Trustees’ financial 
responsibilities. On a quarterly basis, the Chief Financial Officer reports to the Board of Trustees, through the Finance and 
Audit Committee on the operation of the systems of control and on the discharge of the Board of Trustees’ financial 
responsibilities.   

The Finance, Audit and Risk Committee agreed the programme of works for the 2022-2023 internal audit of the Trust. 
Kreston Reeves carried out the following checks in the current period:  a review of the Core Financials Tier 1 (bank and petty 
cash, credit card review, expenditure, fixed assets, income, payroll and VAT) for the five Gravesham academies.  Sampling 
was extensive across these areas.  This agreed programme of works would give the Board of Trustees ongoing assurance 
post-due diligence and post-merger now with a consistent centralised financial approach as well as assurance that strong 
financial processes and systems are in place and fully compliant to support the growth of the Trust over the next 12 months.   

The audit was undertaken using a risk-based approach in order to conclude on the extent to which controls existed and were 
operating effectively.  Key controls were identified and tested during the internal audit procedures. The controls in place were 
considered for adequacy in achieving the objectives of the system and for any potential enhancements to the system. 

The audit findings were full assurance with no weaknesses or recommendation in the areas of bank and petty cash, credit 
card review, income and VAT. The overall opinion was of “full assurance” in terms of all areas expect the following areas 
where there were recommendation/advisory points in the areas of fixed assets, payroll and expenditure.  The majority of the 
issues were inherited historically from “The Pathway Academy Trust” and have been addressed to the satisfaction of the 
Board of Trustees. 

The Board of Trustees, taking advice from the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee, ensured there was an appropriate, 
reasonable, and timely response by the Trust’s Management Team to the findings of the internal auditor, which gave the 
opportunity to strengthen systems of financial management and control. 

Overall, the internal audit provided the Board of Trustees with independent assurance that: 

• The financial responsibilities of the Trust Board were being properly discharged.

• Resources were managed in an efficient, economical and effective manner.

• Sound systems of internal control were being maintained.

• Financial considerations were fully considered in reaching decisions.
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External Audit 
MHA Macintyre Hudson informed the Trust in August 2022 of their resignation with immediate effect and would not be able to 
meet their obligations in relation to the external audit function of the financial accounts of The Golden Thread Alliance for the 
2021-2022 financial year.  Pursuant to para 4.8 of the Academy Trust Handbook 2022, the Education and Skills Funding 
Agency were notified of the auditor’s resignation.   

On 1 September 2022, Members appointed McCabe Ford Williams as the external auditor of the 2021-2022 financial 
accounts. Acknowledging the requirement in the Academy Trust Handbook where Trusts ‘should’ retender the external audit 
contract at least every five years Members appointed at the Annual General Meeting held on 14 December 2022, on a 
recommendation from the Board of Trustees McCabe Ford Williams to carry out the external audit for the 2022-2023 accounts 
and would then reconsider going out to tender during 2023. 

Audit reports are circulated on receipt to all Trustees and management responses submitted for both internal and external 
audit findings were appropriate, reasonable and timely taking opportunities to strengthen systems of financial management 
and control.  

Review of effectiveness 
As Accounting Officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control. During the year in question the review has been informed by: 

• the work of the internal auditor

• the work of the external auditor

• the financial management and governance self-assessment process

• the work of the executive managers within the Trust who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework

The Accounting Officer has been advised of the implications of the result of their review of the system of internal control by the 
Finance, Audit and Risk Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is 
in place. 

Approved by order of the members of the Board of Trustees on 6 December 2023 and signed on their behalf by: 

……………………………………………………………... 
P Vander Gucht - Trustee 

……………………………………………………………. 
G Ratcliffe - Accounting Officer 
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As accounting officer of The Golden Thread Alliance I have considered my responsibility to notify the academy trust board of 
trustees and the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) of material irregularity, impropriety and non-compliance with terms 
and conditions of all funding, including for estates safety and management, under the funding agreement between the academy trust 
and the Secretary of State for Education. As part of my consideration I have had due regard to the requirements of the Academy 
Trust Handbook 2022, including responsibilities for estates safety and management.  

I confirm that I and the academy trust board of trustees are able to identify any material irregular or improper use of funds by the 
academy trust, or material non-compliance with the terms and conditions of funding under the academy trust's funding agreement 
and the Academy Trust Handbook 2022.  

I confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or funding non-compliance have been discovered to date. If any 
instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to the board of trustees and ESFA.  

........................................................................ 
Mr Garry Ratcliffe - Accounting Officer 

Date: 6 December 2023 
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The Trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for preparing 
the Trustees' Report and the financial statements in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction published by the Education 
and Skills Funding Agency, United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and 
applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under company law, the Trustees must 
not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
charitable company and of its incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for that period. 
In preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are required to: 

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- observe the methods and principles of the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023;

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed

and explained in the financial statements;
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charitable

company will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the charitable 
company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charitable company and 
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities. 

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable company applies financial and other 
controls, which conform with the requirements both of propriety and of good financial management. They are also responsible for 
ensuring grants received from ESFA/DfE have been applied for the purposes intended. 

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the charitable 
company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Approved by order of the board of trustees on 6 December 2023 and signed on its behalf by: 

........................................................................ 
P Vander Gucht - Trustee 
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Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of The Golden Thread Alliance (the 'academy trust') for the year ended 31 August 2023 
which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law, United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and 
the Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023 issued by the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA).  

In our opinion the financial statements: 
- give a true and fair view of the state of the academy trust's affairs as at 31 August 2023 and of its incoming resources and 

application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for the year then ended;
- have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;
- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and
- have been prepared in accordance with the Charities SORP 2019 and Academies Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report.  We are independent of the academy trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the academy trust in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Conclusions relating to going concern 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the trustees' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the academy trust's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at 
least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the trustees with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this 
report.  

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where: 
- the trustees' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or
- the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about
the academy trust's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the
date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
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Other information 
The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the trustees' 
annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Other information includes the report of the 
trustees (incorporating the strategic report and the directors' report), the governance statement, and the Accounting Officer's 
statement. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
- the information given in the Strategic Report and the Report of the Trustees for the financial year for which the financial 

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and  
- the Strategic Report and the Report of the Trustees has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.  
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the academy trust and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we 
have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report and the Report of the Trustees.  

 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:  
- adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not 

visited by us; or  
- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or  
- certain disclosures of trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or  
- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.  

 
Responsibilities of trustees 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees' Responsibilities, the trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable 
company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the academy trust's ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
trustees either intend to liquidate the academy trust or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
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Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a Report of the Independent Auditors that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements.  

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below: 

- the engagement partner ensured that the engagement team collectively had the appropriate competence, capabilities
and skills to identify or recognise non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

- we identified the laws and regulations applicable to the academy trust through discussions with management and our
experience of the sector;

- we focused on specific laws and regulations which we considered may have a direct material effect on the financial
statements or the operations of the academy trust, including, but not limited to, the Companies Act 2006, the Charities
SORP 2019, the Academies Financial Handbook and UK tax legislation;

- we assessed the extent of compliance with the laws and regulations identified above through making enquiries of
management; and

- identified laws and regulations were communicated within the audit team regularly and the team remained alert to
instances of non-compliance throughout the audit.

We assessed the susceptibility of the company's financial statements to material misstatement, including obtaining an understanding 
of how fraud might occur, by: 

- making enquiries of management as to where they considered there was susceptibility to fraud, their knowledge of
actual, suspected and alleged fraud;

- reviewing the reports produced via the academy trust's internal scrutiny function;
- considering the internal controls in place to mitigate risks of fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations.

To address the risk of fraud through management bias and override of controls, we: 

- performed analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships;
- tested journal entries to identify unusual transactions;
- assessed whether judgements and assumptions made in determining the accounting estimates were indicative of

potential bias; and
- investigated the rationale behind significant or unusual transactions.

In response to the risk of irregularities and non-compliance with laws and regulations, we designed procedures which included, but 
were not limited to: 

- agreeing financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation;
- reading the minutes of meetings of those charged with governance;
- enquiring of management as to actual and potential litigation and claims; and
- reviewing correspondence with HMRC and relevant regulators such as the ESFA.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's 
website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our Report of the Independent Auditors.  
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Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the academy trust's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the academy trust's members those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditors' report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the academy trust and the academy trust's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed.  

Clair Rayner FCA DChA (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of McCabe Ford Williams  
Statutory Auditors and Chartered Accountants 
Reporting Accountant 
Building 1063 
Cornforth Drive 
Kent Science Park 
Sittingbourne 
Kent 
ME9 8PX 

Date: ............................................. 
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In accordance with the terms of our engagement and further to the requirements of the Education and Skills Funding Agency 
(ESFA), as included in the Academies Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023, we have carried out an engagement to obtain limited 
assurance about whether the expenditure disbursed and income received by The Golden Thread Alliance during the period 
1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023 have been applied to the purposes identified by Parliament and the financial transactions 
conform to the authorities which govern them.  

This report is made solely to The Golden Thread Alliance and the ESFA in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter. Our 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to The Golden Thread Alliance and the ESFA those matters we are required to 
state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than The Golden Thread Alliance and the ESFA, for our work, for this report, or for the conclusion we have formed.  

Respective responsibilities of The Golden Thread Alliance's accounting officer and the reporting accountant  
The accounting officer is responsible, under the requirements of The Golden Thread Alliance's funding agreement with the Secretary 
of State for Education and the Academy Trust Handbook, extant from 1 September 2022, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed 
and income received is applied for the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities 
which govern them.  

Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession's ethical guidance and are to obtain 
limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement letter and the requirements of the Academies Accounts Direction 
2022 to 2023. We report to you whether anything has come to our attention in carrying out our work which suggests that in all 
material respects, expenditure disbursed and income received during the period 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023 have not 
been applied to purposes intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern 
them.  

Approach 
We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023 issued by the ESFA. We 
performed a limited assurance engagement as defined in our engagement letter.  

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and explanations in order to 
provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on regularity.  

A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and consequently does not 
enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in a reasonable 
assurance engagement.  Accordingly, we do not express a positive opinion.  

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety of the academy trust's 
income and expenditure. The work undertaken to draw to our conclusion includes: 

- Review of the internal control environment which is designed to ensure compliance with regulations;
- Review of the accounting officer's consideration of issues surrounding regularity, propriety and compliance;
- Review of the work and reports of the internal reviewer during the period;
- Review of governance arrangements and procedures and related compliance with the requirements of the Academy

Trust Handbook, including the distribution of management accounts and quantity of meetings.
- Analytical procedures regarding declaration of potential conflicts of interest by key staff and the governing body;

- Review of fixed asset transactions against the requirements of the funding agreement between The Golden Thread
Alliance and the Secretary of State and the Academy Trust Handbook;

- Testing of grants and other income for application in accordance with the terms and requirements attached;
- Review of the academy trust's activities to check they are in line with the Academies Framework and the academy

trust's charitable objectives;
- Review of bank statements and financial transactions for indications of any items which may be improper;
- Review of bank accounts to check that they are operated within the terms of the academy trust's governing document

and borrowing limits imposed by the funding agreement are not exceeded;
- Testing of expenditure, including expense claims for signs of transactions for personal benefit;
- Review of any extra-contractual payments made to staff;
- Review of procurement activity during the period.
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Conclusion 
In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggests that in all material respects the expenditure disbursed 
and income received during the period 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023 has not been applied to purposes intended by 
Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them.  

Clair Rayner FCA DChA (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of McCabe Ford Williams  
Statutory Auditors and Chartered Accountants 
Reporting Accountant 
Building 1063 
Cornforth Drive 
Kent Science Park 
Sittingbourne 
Kent 
ME9 8PX 

Date: ............................................. 
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31.8.23 31.8.22 
Restricted Restricted 

Unrestricted Fixed General Total Total 
fund Assets Funds funds funds 

Notes £ £ £ £ £ 
INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS 
FROM  
Donations and capital grants  2 49,911 22,344,361 1,501,567 23,895,839 2,596,794 

Charitable activities  
Funding for the academy's 
educational operations  3 - - 22,402,553 22,402,553 14,948,722 

Other trading activities 4 967,613 - 255,924 1,223,537 739,035 
Investment income  5 137 - 277 414 225 

Total 1,017,661 22,344,361 24,160,321 47,522,343 18,284,776 

EXPENDITURE ON  
Charitable activities  
Academy's educational 
operations  7 909,911 980,893 22,829,094 24,719,898 17,591,015 

Total 909,911 980,893 22,829,094 24,719,898 17,591,015 

NET INCOME  107,750 21,363,468 1,331,227 22,802,445 693,761 
Transfers between funds 19 (2,298) 455,502 (453,204) - - 
Other recognised 
gains/(losses)  
Actuarial gains on defined 
benefit schemes  - - 918,000 918,000 7,895,000 

Net movement in funds 105,452 21,818,970 1,796,023 23,720,445 8,588,761 

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS 
Total funds brought forward  174,531 34,393,445 291,528 34,859,504 26,270,743 

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED 
FORWARD  279,983 56,212,415 2,087,551 58,579,949 34,859,504 



The notes form part of these financial statements 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE (REGISTERED NUMBER: 10250958) 

BALANCE SHEET 
31 AUGUST 2023 

31.8.23 31.8.22 
Restricted Restricted 

Unrestricted Fixed General Total Total 
fund Assets Funds funds funds 

Notes £ £ £ £ £ 
FIXED ASSETS 
Tangible assets 13 - 55,831,380 - 55,831,380 33,470,996 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Debtors  14 161,976 926,696 412,766 1,501,438 2,832,330 
Cash at bank  118,117 189,530 3,145,925 3,453,572 2,002,163 

280,093 1,116,226 3,558,691 4,955,010 4,834,493 

CREDITORS  
Amounts falling due within one 
year  15 (110) (84,841) (1,471,140) (1,556,091) (2,098,275) 

NET CURRENT ASSETS 279,983 1,031,385 2,087,551 3,398,919 2,736,218 

TOTAL ASSETS LESS 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 279,983 56,862,765 2,087,551 59,230,299 36,207,214 

CREDITORS  
Amounts falling due after more 
than one year  16 - (650,350) - (650,350) (436,710) 

PENSION LIABILITY 20 - - - - (911,000) 

NET ASSETS 279,983 56,212,415 2,087,551 58,579,949 34,859,504 



The notes form part of these financial statements 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE (REGISTERED NUMBER: 10250958) 

BALANCE SHEET - continued 
31 AUGUST 2023 

FUNDS  19 
Restricted funds: 

Pension Fund  - (911,000)
Fixed asset fund  55,831,380 33,470,997
Other Government Grants 1,116,226 1,402,366 
General Annual Grant  2,087,551 1,202,528 
Capital Loans  (735,191) (479,918) 

58,299,966 34,684,973 

Unrestricted funds: 
Unrestricted 279,983 174,531 

TOTAL FUNDS 58,579,949 34,859,504 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Trustees and authorised for issue on 6 December 2023 and 
were signed on its behalf by:  

............................................. 
P Vander Gucht - Trustee 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 Notes £ £ 
 
Cash flows from operating activities 
Cash generated from operations  1 804,539 1,165,251 

    
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities  804,539 1,165,251 

    
 
Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (2,363,460) (2,913,660) 
Capital grants from DfE/EFA 1,349,330 2,535,505 
Interest receivable 414 225 
Cash transferred in from TPAT 1,672,729 - 

    
Net cash used in investing activities  659,013 (377,930) 

    
 
Cash flows from financing activities 
Repayment of borrowing (47,761) - 
New loans in the period 35,618 - 

    
Net cash used in financing activities  (12,143) - 

    
 

    
Change in cash and cash equivalents in 
the reporting period  

 
1,451,409 

 
787,3211 

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the reporting period  

 
2,002,163 

 
1,214,842 

    
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the reporting period  

 
3,453,572 

 
2,002,163 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
1. RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Net income for the reporting period (as per the Statement of Financial 

Activities)  
 

22,802,445 
 

693,761 
 Adjustments for: 
 Depreciation charges 1,040,076 580,869 
 Capital grants from DfE/ESFA (1,349,330) (2,535,506) 
 Investment income (414) (225) 
 Defined benefit pension scheme less contributions payable 96,000 1,383,000 
 Pension asset received from transfer in (125,000) - 
 Pension scheme finance costs 36,000 118,000 
 Transfer in of fixed assets (21,037,000) - 
 Transfer in of loan  267,415 - 
 Cash received from transfer in (1,672,729) - 
 Decrease / (Increase) in debtors 1,330,892 (169,848) 
 (Decrease)/increase in creditors (583,816) 1,095,200 

    
 Net cash (used in)/provided by operations  804,539 1,165,251 

   
 
 
2. ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET FUNDS  
 
 At 1.9.22 Cash flow At 31.8.23 
 £ £ £ 

Net cash  
 Cash at bank 2,002,163 1,451,409 3,453,572 

      
 2,002,163 1,451,409 3,453,572 

      
 
 Debt 
 Debts falling due within 1 year (43,209) (41,632) (84,841) 
 Debts falling due after 1 year (436,710) (213,640) (650,350) 

      
 (479,919) (255,272) (735,191) 

      
 Total 1,522,244 1,196,137 2,718,381 

      



 

 
 Page 39 continued... 

THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 

General information 
The Golden Thread Alliance is a charitable company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity incorporated in 
England and Wales. The registered office is West Hill Primary Academy, Dartford Road, Dartford, DA1 3DZ. The 
principal activity of the academy trust is to provide primary education for pupils that satisfies the requirements of 
the Education Act 2002.  
 
Basis of preparing the financial statements  
The financial statements of the academy trust, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been 
prepared in accordance with the Charities SORP (FRS 102) 'Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement 
of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2019)', Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland', the 
Academies Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023 issued by the ESFA, the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 
2006. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.  

 
The Golden Thread Alliance meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.  

 
Going concern  
The Trustees assess whether the use of going concern is appropriate i.e. whether there are any material 
uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Trust to continue 
as a going concern. The Trustees make this assessment in respect of a period of at least one year from the date 
of authorisation for issue of the financial statements and have concluded that the Trust has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and there are no material uncertainties about the 
Trust's ability to continue as a going concern, thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
in preparing the financial statements. 

 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty  
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
The academy trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates 
and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below. 

 
The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a number of 
factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used in 
determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions, 
which are disclosed in note 20, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability. Furthermore a roll forward 
approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial valuation performed at 31 March 2022 has been 
used by the actuary in valuing the pensions liability at 31 August 2023. Any differences between the figures 
derived from the roll forward approach and a full actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying amount of the 
pension liability. 

 
The net book value of leasehold property, included within fixed assets, is based on assumptions in relation to the 
useful life of property and the residual value of the assets. The element of leasehold property which relates to 
land is deemed not to have a finite life and is not depreciated. The element of leasehold property which does not 
relate to land is depreciated over the estimated life of the individual buildings, and it is assumed that the asset 
has no residual value. Any changes in these assumptions will have an impact on the carrying amount of fixed 
assets. 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued  
 

Critical areas of judgement 
The trustees do not consider there to be any critical areas of judgement, other than those relating to estimation 
above, which have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

 
Income  
All income is recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities once the academy trust has entitlement to the 
funds, it is probable that the income will be received and the amount can be measured reliably. 

 
Grants  
Grants are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis. The balance of income 
received for specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the relevant funds on the balance 
sheet. Where income is received in advance of meeting any performance-related conditions there is not 
unconditional entitlement to the income and its recognition is deferred and included in creditors as deferred 
income until the performance-related conditions are met. Where entitlement occurs before income is received, 
the income is accrued. 

 
General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year for which it is 
receivable and any abatement in respect of the period is deducted from income and recognised as a liability. 

 
Capital grants are recognised in full when there is an unconditional entitlement to the grant. Unspent amounts of 
capital grants are reflected in the balance sheet in the restricted fixed asset fund. Capital grants are recognised 
when there is entitlement and are not deferred over the life of the asset on which they are expended. 

 
Donations  
Donations are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no performance related conditions), where it is 
probable that the income will be received and the amount can be measured reliably. 

 
Other income  
Other income including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the period it is receivable and to the extent the 
academy trust has provided the goods or services. 

 
Donated fixed assets (excluding transfers on conversion or into the trust)  
Where assets and liabilities are received on the transfer of an existing academy into the Trust, the transferred 
assets are measured at fair value and recognised in the Balance Sheet at the point when the risks and rewards 
of ownership pass to the Trust. An equal amount of income is recognised for the transfer of an existing academy 
into the Trust within 'Income from Donations and Capital Grants' to the net assets acquired. 

 
Transfer of existing academies into the trust  
Where assets and liabilities are received on the transfer of an existing academy into the Trust, the transferred 
assets are measured at fair value and recognised in the Balance Sheet at the point when the risks and rewards 
of ownership pass to the Trust. An equal amount of income is recognised for the transfer of an existing academy 
into the Trust within 'Income from Donations and Capital Grants' to the net assets acquired. 

 
Expenditure  
Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit to a third 
party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement and the amount of the 
obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is classified by activity. The costs of each activity are made up 
of the total of direct costs and shared costs, including support costs involved in undertaking each activity. Direct 
costs attributable to a single activity are allocated directly to that activity. Shared costs which contribute to more 
than one activity and support costs which are not attributable to a single activity are apportioned between those 
activities on a basis consistent with the use of resources. 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued  
 

Charitable activities  
These are costs incurred on the academy trust's educational operations, including support costs and costs 
relating to the governance of the academy trust apportioned to charitable activities. 

 
All resources expended are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT. 
 
Tangible fixed assets  
Assets costing £5,000 or more are capitalised as tangible fixed assets and are carried at cost, net of depreciation 
and any provision for impairment. 

 
Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the government or 
from the private sector, they are included in the Balance Sheet at cost and depreciated over their expected useful 
economic life. Where there are specific conditions attached to the funding requiring the continued use of the 
asset, the related grants are credited to a restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial Activities and 
carried forward in the Balance Sheet. Depreciation on the relevant assets is charged directly to the restricted 
fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial Activities. Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with 
unrestricted funds or restricted general funds, transfers are made to the restricted fixed asset fund. 

 
Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets other than freehold land and assets under construction, at 
rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life, as follows: 

 
Depreciation is provided on the following bases: 

 
Land  - no depreciation  
Leasehold buildings  - 2% straight line  
Furniture and equipment  - 15% straight line  
Computer equipment  - 33% straight line  
Assets under construction  - depreciated once brought into use  

 
A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying value of fixed assets 
and their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments. Impairment losses are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Activities. 

 
Financial instruments  
The Trust only holds basic financial instruments as defined in FRS 102. The financial assets and financial 
liabilities of the academy trust and their measurement basis are as follows: 

 
Financial assets - trade and other debtors are basic financial instruments and are debt instruments measured at 
amortised cost as detailed in note 19. Prepayments are not financial instruments.  Cash at bank - is classified as 
a basic financial instrument and is measured at face value. 

 
Cash at bank - classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured at face value. 

  
Financial liabilities - trade creditors, accruals and other creditors are financial instruments, and are measured at 
amortised cost. Taxation and social security are not included in the financial instruments disclosure definition. 
Deferred income is not deemed to be a financial liability, as the cash settlement has already taken place and 
there is an obligation to deliver services rather than cash or other financial instrument. 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued  

Liabilities  

Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount of the settlement can 
be estimated reliably. Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the academy trust anticipates it will pay to 
settle the debt or the amount it has received as advanced payments for the goods or services it must provide. 
 
Taxation  
The Trust is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010 and 
therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes. Accordingly, the 
academy is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within categories 
covered by Chapter 3 Part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable 
Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes. 
 
Fund accounting  
Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the charitable 
objects of the Trust at the discretion of the Trustees. 

 
Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed by the 
funders where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose. 

 
Restricted general funds comprise all other restricted funds received with restrictions imposed by the 
funder/donor and include grants from the Department for Education Group. 

 
Hire purchase and leasing commitments  
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities on a straight line basis 
over the period of the lease.  

 
Pension costs and other post-retirement benefits  
Retirement benefits to employees of the academy trust are provided by the Teachers' Pension Scheme ('TPS') 
and the Local Government Pension Scheme ('LGPS'). These are defined benefit schemes. 

 
The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of pensions over 
employees' working lives with the academy trust in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level 
percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are determined by the Government 
Actuary on the basis of quadrennial valuations using a prospective unit credit method. The TPS is an unfunded 
multi-employer scheme with no underlying assets to assign between employers. Consequently, the TPS is 
treated as a defined contribution scheme for accounting purposes and the contributions recognised in the period 
to which they relate. 

 
The LGPS is a funded multi-employer scheme and the assets are held separately from those of the academy 
trust in separate trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are 
measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the 
current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. The 
actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. The amounts 
charged to operating surplus are the current service costs and the costs of scheme introductions, benefit 
changes, settlements and curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net interest on the 
net defined benefit liability is also recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities and comprises the interest 
cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme assets, calculated by multiplying the fair 
value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used to discount the benefit obligations. 
The difference between the interest income on the scheme assets and the actual return on the scheme assets is 
recognised in other recognised gains and losses.  Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in 
other recognised gains and losses. 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
2. DONATIONS AND CAPITAL GRANTS  
 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 Unrestricted Restricted  Total  Total 
 funds funds  funds  funds 
 £ £ £ £ 
 Donations  49,911 4,655 54,566 61,288 
 Grants   1,349,330 1,349,330 2,535,506 
 Transfer in of existing academy  - 22,491,943 22,491,943 - 

       
 49,911 23,845,928 23,895,839 2,596,794 

       
 

On 1 January 2023, The Pathway Academy Trust joined the Trust. 
 

Included within the transfer of The Pathway Academy Trust is £1,672,729 in donated bank balances and 
£21,037,277, of donated assets, in restricted general funds and restricted fixed asset funds respectively. 

 
Grants received, included in the above, are as follows:  

 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Other DfE/EFSA grants  1,349,330 2,535,506 

   
 
3. FUNDING FOR THE ACADEMY TRUST'S EDUCATIONAL OPERATIONS  
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 Unrestricted Restricted  Total  Total 
 funds funds  funds  funds 
 £ £ £ £ 

DfE/ESFA grants  
 General Annual Grant(GAG)  - 17,208,765 17,208,765 11,231,135 

Other DfE/EFSA grant  
 Pupil Premium  - 1,322,858 1,322,858 872,183 
 Universal infant free school meals  - 454,657 454,657 288,319 
 Other DfE / ESFA Revenue Grants  - 601,010 601,010 494,680 
 Supplementary Grant  - 790,277 790,277 - 

       
 - 20,377,567 20,377,567 12,886,317 

       
Other Government grants  

 Local Authority Revenue Grant  - 1,911,498 1,911,498 2,062,405 
       

 Other income from the academy trust's 
educational operations  

 
- 

 
113,488 

 
113,488 

- 
 

       
 - 22,402,553 22,402,553 14,948,722 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
4. OTHER TRADING ACTIVITIES  
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Trip income  287,417 142,093 
 Catering income  166,546 186,989 
 Other income  225,644 67,372 
 Nursery, lettings and club income  543,930 342,581 

   
 1,223,537 739,035 

   
 
5. INVESTMENT INCOME  
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Investment income  414 225 

   
 
6. EXPENDITURE  
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 Non-pay expenditure 
 Staff  Other 
 costs  Premises  costs  Total  Total 
 £ £ £ £ £ 

Charitable activities  
Academy's educational operations 

 Direct costs  11,367,021 - 1,859,773 13,226,794 11,280,332 
 Allocated support costs  6,953,676 2,698,406 1,841,022 11,493,104 6,310,683 

         
 18,320,697 2,698,406 3,700,795 24,719,898 17,591,015 

         
 

Net income/(expenditure) is stated after charging/(crediting):  
 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Auditors' remuneration  25,500 17,400 
 Over-provision in prior period  (5,500) - 
 Auditors' remuneration for non audit work  6,750 15,165 
 Depreciation - owned assets  1,040,076 580,868 
 Hire of plant and machinery  107,936 122,148 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
7. CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES - ACADEMY'S EDUCATIONAL OPERATIONS  
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 Unrestricted Restricted  Total  Total 
 funds funds  funds  funds 
 £ £ £ £ 
 
 Direct costs  211,483 13,015,311 13,226,794 11,280,332 
 Support costs  698,428 10,794,676 11,493,104 6,310,683 

       
 909,911 23,809,987 24,719,898 17,591,015 

       
 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 Total  Total 
 £ £ 
 Analysis of support costs 
 Support staff costs  6,953,676 3,368,417 
 Depreciation  1,040,076 580,868 
 Premises costs  1,845,018 1,303,450 
 Other support costs  1,627,584 1,025,383 
 Governance costs  26,750 32,565 

   
 Total support costs  11,493,104 6,310,683 

   
 
8. STAFF COSTS  
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Wages and salaries 13,641,344 9,143,370 
 Social security costs 1,254,653 853,867 
 Operating costs of defined benefit pension schemes 3,049,918 3,332,390 

     
 17,945,915 13,329,627 
 Supply teacher costs 306,903 277,563 
 Compensation payment 67,879 9,986 

     
 18,320,697 13,617,176 

    
 

The average number of persons (including senior management team) employed by the academy trust during the 
year was as follows:  

 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 Teachers 215 129 
 Administration and support 461 259 
 Management 37 21 

   
 713 409 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
8. STAFF COSTS - continued  
 

Non-statutory / non-contractual staff severance payments 
 

The academy trust paid 3 (2022:1) severance payments in the year, disclosed in the following bands: 
 

 2023 2022 
 
£0 - £25,000  2 1 
£50,001 - £100,000  1 - 

 
 Included in staff restructuring costs are 3 non-contractual severance payment totalling £67,879 (2022: £9,986). 
 

Higher paid staff 
 

The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs) exceeded £60,000 was: 
 

 2023 2022 
 
In the band £60,000 - £70,000  5 3 
In the band £70,001 - £80,000  4 2 
In the band £80,001 - £90,000  1 1 
In the band £90,001 - £100,000  - 2 
In the band £100,001 - £110,000  2 - 
In the band £110,001 - £120,000  1 - 
In the band £130,001 - £140,000  - 1 
In the band £150,001 - £160,000  1 - 

     
 

All but two of the above employees participated in the Teachers' Pension Scheme. During the period ended 31 
August 2023, pension contributions for these staff amounted to £217,131 (2022: £104,022). 

 
 

Key management personnel 
 

The key management personnel of the academy trust comprise the trustees and the senior management team 
as listed on page 1. The total amount of employee benefits (including employer pension contributions and 
employer national insurance contributions) received by key management personnel for their services to the 
academy trust was £1,517,668 (2022: £804,637) 
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
9. CENTRAL SERVICES  
 

The academy trust has provided the following central services to its academies during the year: 
 

 -  Human resources  
 -  Financial services  
 -  Legal services  
 -  Educational support services  
 -  ICT services  
 -  Other as arising  

 
The academy trust charges for these services on the following basis: 

 
 
 

-  HR, payroll and finance recharges were based on a pupil number basis, unless a cost related to a 
specific school, when the costs were recharged at the actual cost. 

 

 -  Legal costs were recharged on an ‘as charged’ basis specific to the matter at hand.  
 -  Educational support recharges were on a specific basis relative to the school supported.  
 
 

-  Software and licences were recharged on a specific basis attributable to each school for the number of 
licences etc. 

 

 
The actual amounts charged during the year were as follows: 

 
 2023 2022 

£  £  
Fleetdown Primary School  225,896 199,298 
Oakfield Primary Academy  242,083 203,062 
Temple Hill Primary Academy  336,062 58,186 
West Hill Primary Academy  156,680 144,814 
Culverstone Green Primary School  42,833 - 
Meopham Community Academy  102,071 - 
Riverview Infant School  77,681 - 
Riverview Junior School  112,138 - 
Wrotham Road Primary School  106,071 - 

     
 1,401,515 605,360 

     
 

Temple Hill Primary Academy benefited from reduced central services charges during 2021/22. The reduction in 
charges was agreed by the Trustees to help fund emergency support at the school following falling standards, as 
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The emergency support provided to Temple Hill Primary Academy is 
approximately £270,000. No such reductions in central services charges occurred in 2022/23.  

 
10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS - TRUSTEES' REMUNERATION AND EXPENSES  
 

There was no trustees' remuneration or other benefits for the year ended 31 August 2023 nor for the year ended 
31 August 2022.  
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THE GOLDEN THREAD ALLIANCE 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2023 
 
11. TRUSTEES' AND OFFICERS' INSURANCE  
 

The academy trust has opted into the Department for Education's risk protection arrangement (RPA), an 
alternative to insurance where UK government funds cover losses that arise.  This scheme protects trustees and 
officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on academy business, and 
provides cover up to £10,000,000.  It is not possible to quantify the trustees and officers indemnity element from 
the overall cost of the RPA scheme.  

 
12. COMPARATIVES FOR THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES  
 Restricted  Restricted 
 Unrestricted  Fixed  General  Total 
 fund  Assets  Funds  funds 
 £ £ £ £ 

INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS FROM  
 Donations and capital grants  55,455 2,535,506 5,833 2,596,794 
 

Charitable activities  
 Funding for the academy's educational 

operations  
 

- 
 

- 
 

14,948,722 
 

14,948,722 
 
 Other trading activities  681,434 - 57,601 739,035 
 Investment income  225 - - 225 

       
 Total  737,114 2,535,506 15,012,156 18,284,776 

       
 

EXPENDITURE ON  
Charitable activities  

 Academy's educational operations  676,489 1,214,045 15,700,481 17,591,015 
 

       
 Total  676,489 1,214,045 15,700,481 17,591,015 

       
 
 NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE)  60,625 1,321,461 (688,325) 693,761 
 Transfers between funds  - 647,706 (647,706) - 

Other recognised gains/(losses)  
 Actuarial gains on defined benefit schemes  - - 7,895,000 7,895,000 

       
 Net movement in funds  60,625 1,969,167 6,558,969 8,588,761 
 

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS  
 Total funds brought forward  113,906 32,424,278 (6,267,441) 26,270,743 
 

       
 TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD  174,531 34,393,445 291,528 34,859,504 
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13. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS  
 Fixtures   
 Long  and  Computer
 leasehold  Fittings  Equipment 
 £ £ £ 
 COST 
 At 1 September 2022  34,550,423 432,205 576,311 
 Additions  1,352,372 286 - 
 Reclassification  1,067,452 - - 
 Transfer on conversion  20,964,189 30,521 42,290 

     
 At 31 August 2023  57,934,436 463,012 618,601 

     
 DEPRECIATION 
 At 1 September 2022  2,666,302 247,414 397,768 
 Charge for year  897,243 59,420 83,413 

     
 At 31 August 2023  3,563,545 306,834 481,181 

     
 NET BOOK VALUE 
 At 31 August 2023  54,370,891 156,178 137,420 

     
 At 31 August 2022  31,884,121 184,791 178,543 

     
 
 Assets 
   under 
   construction  Totals 
  £ £ 
 COST 
 At 1 September 2022   1,223,541 36,782,480 
 Additions   1,010,802 2,363,460 
 Reclassification   (1,067,452) - 
 Transfer on conversion   - 21,037,000 

     
 At 31 August 2023   1,166,891 60,182,940 

     
 DEPRECIATION 
 At 1 September 2022   - 3,311,484 
 Charge for year   - 1,040,076 
 Reclassification/transfer   - - 

     
 At 31 August 2023   - 4,351,560 

     
 NET BOOK VALUE 
 At 31 August 2023   1,166,891 55,831,380 

     
 At 31 August 2022   1,223,541 33,470,996 
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Land and Buildings includes those of West Hill, valued on transfer to the MAT in 2019 at £6m and those of 
Oakfiled and Temple Hill, included from 2016. In the absence of valuations provided by the ESFA, these have 
been valued at an estimate based on similar sized academies in the surrounding area of the Trust.  Land and 
buildings also includes £9,857,772 in respect of Fleetdown, a valuation provided by Kent County Council with 
replacement cost of Land £4,241,772 and Buildings £5,616,000 at the date of transfer.  
On 1 January 2023, £20,964,189 was transferred into the academy reflecting the fair value for the Land and 
Buildings acquired as part of the transfer of The Pathway Academy Trust which included the following schools, 
Cukverstone Green Primary (£3,494,849), Meopham Community Primary (£4,034,980), Riverview Infant School 
(£2,334,896), Riverview Junior School (£6,517,629) and Wrotham Road Primary (£4,578,826). These values 
were determined per The Pathway Academy Trust’s audited financial statements for the period ended 31 
December 2022 prior the schools transferring to The Golden Thread Alliance.  

 
14. DEBTORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR  
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Trade debtors 20,556 29,638 
 Other debtors 144,897 265,966 
 Prepayments and accrued income 1,335,985 2,536,726 

   
 1,501,438 2,832,330 

   
 
15. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR  
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Other loans (see note 17)  84,841 43,209 
 Trade creditors  787,258 1,574,853 
 Accruals and deferred income  683,992 480,213 

   
 1,556,091 2,098,275 

   
DEFERRED INCOME 

 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
            £     £     

Deferred income at 1 September 2022 229,247 207,027 
Resources deferred in the year 403,637 229,247 
Amounts released from previous periods (229,247) (207,027) 

 
Deferred income at 31 August 2023 403,637 229,247 

 
At the 31 August 2023, the Trust was holding funds received for Universal Infant Free School Meals, 
school clubs and trips for the 2023-24 academic year.  

 
16. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR  
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Other loans (see note 17)  650,350 436,710 
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17. LOANS  
 

An analysis of the maturity of loans is given below:  
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 

Amounts falling due within one year on demand:  
 Other loans  84,841 43,209 

   
Amounts falling between one and two years:  

 Other loans - 1-2 years  86,438 54,152 

   
Amounts falling due between two and five years:  

 Other loans - 2-5 years  267,909 168,028 

   
Amounts falling due in more than five years:  

 
Repayable by instalments:  

 Other loans more 5yrs installments  296,003 214,530 

   
 

All loans relate to CIF projects and are repayable between 5 and 10 years.  The Salix loans are interest 
free and the interest on the CIF loans range from between 1.29% and 2.07%.  

 
 
18. MEMBERS' LIABILITY  
 

Each member of the academy trust undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of it being 
wound up while they are a member, or within one year after they cease to be a member, such amount as may be 
required, not exceeding £10 as stated in academy trust’s funding agreement/memorandum and articles of 
association] for the debts and liabilities contracted before they cease to be a member. 

 
19. MOVEMENT IN FUNDS  
 Net  Transfers 
 movement  between  At 
 At 1.9.22  in funds  funds  31.8.23 
 £ £ £ £ 

Restricted general funds  
 Pension Fund  (911,000) 911,000 - - 
 Fixed asset fund  33,470,997 19,993,497 2,366,886 55,831,380 
 Other Government Grants  1,402,366 1,635,441 (1,978,507) 1,116,226 
 General Annual Grant  1,202,528 1,338,227 (453,204) 2,087,551 
 Capital Loans  (479,918) (265,470) 67,123 (735,191) 

       
 34,684,973 23,612,695 2,298 58,299,966 

       
Unrestricted fund  

 Unrestricted  174,531 107,750 (2,298) 279,983 
 

       
 TOTAL FUNDS  34,859,504 23,720,445 - 58,579,949 
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Net movement in funds, included in the above are as follows:  
 
 Incoming  Resources  Gains and  Movement 
 resources  expended  losses  in funds 
 £ £ £ £ 

Restricted general funds  
 Pension Fund  125,000 (132,000)  918,000 911,000 
 Fixed asset fund  21,033,559 (1,040,062) - 19,993,497 
 Other DfE/ ESFA Revenue Grants  601,010 (601,010) - - 
 Local Authority Revenue Grants  1,911,498 (1,911,498) - - 
 Other Government Grants  1,576,272 59,169 - 1,635,441 
 Pupil Premium  1,322,858 (1,322,858) - - 
 General Annual Grant  18,597,098 (17,258,871) - 1,338,227 
 Non-Government Revenue Grants  157,516 (157,516) - - 
 Other Activities  86,919 (86,919) - - 
 Other Government Revenue Grants  113,488 (113,488) - - 
 Capital Loans  (265,470) - - (265,470) 
 UIFSM  454,657 (454,657) - - 
 Supplementary Grant  790,277 (790,277) - - 

       
 46,504,682 (23,809,987) 918,000 23,612,695 

       
Unrestricted fund  

 Unrestricted  1,017,661 (909,911) - 107,750 
 

       
 TOTAL FUNDS  47,522,343 (24,719,898) 918,000 23,720,445 

       
 

Comparatives for movement in funds  
 
 Net  Transfers 
 movement  between  At 
 At 1.9.21  in funds  funds  31.8.22 
 £ £ £ £ 

Restricted general funds  
 Pension Fund  (7,305,000) 6,394,000 - (911,000) 
 Fixed asset fund  31,138,204 (580,867) 2,913,660 33,470,996 
 Other Government Grants  1,559,467 1,902,329 (2,059,429) 1,402,367 
 General Annual Grant  1,037,559 812,674 (647,706) 1,202,528 
 Capital Loans  (273,393) - (206,525) (479,918) 

       
 26,156,837 8,528,136 - 34,684,973 

       
Unrestricted fund  

 Unrestricted  113,906 60,625 - 174,531 
 

       
 TOTAL FUNDS  26,270,743 8,588,761 - 34,859,504 
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Comparative net movement in funds, included in the above are as follows:  
 
 Incoming  Resources  Gains and  Movement 
 resources  expended  losses  in funds 
 £ £ £ £ 

Restricted general funds  
 Pension Fund  - (1,501,000) 7,895,000 6,394,000 
 Fixed asset fund  - (580,867) - (580,867) 
 Other DfE/ ESFA Revenue Grants  782,999 (782,999) - - 
 Local Authority Revenue Grants  1,731,093 (1,731,093) - - 
 Other Government Grants  2,535,506 (633,177) - 1,902,329 
 Pupil Premium  872,183 (872,183) - - 
 General Annual Grant  11,231,140 (10,418,466) - 812,674 
 Other Activities  63,429 (63,429) - - 
 Other Government Revenue Grants  331,312 (331,312) - - 

       
 17,547,662 (16,914,526) 7,895,000 8,528,136 

       
Unrestricted fund  

 Unrestricted  737,114 (676,489) - 60,625 
 

       
 TOTAL FUNDS  18,284,776 (17,591,015) 7,895,000 8,588,761 

       
Total funds analysis by academy 

 
Fund balances at 31 August 2023 were allocated as follows: 

 
 2023  2022  
 £  £  
 
Oakfield Primary Academy  224,132 331,450 
Temple Hill Primary School  396,891 479,319 
West Hill Primary School  44,009 134,981 
Fleetdown Primary School  152,743 96,752 
Culverstone Green Primary  177,092 - 
Meopham Community Primary  191,444 - 
Riverview Infant School  248,255 - 
Riverview Junior School  89,221 - 
Wrotham Road Primary  508,193 - 
Central Trust  335,554 334,557 

     
Total before fixed asset funds and pension reserve  2,367,534 1,377,059 
Restricted fixed asset fund  56,212,415 34,393,445 
Pension reserve  - (911,000) 

     
 58,579,949 34,859,504 

     
 

These are the pre-pooled balances and the balances are pooled on the 1 September of the next financial year. 
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Analysis of academies by cost 
 

Expenditure incurred by each academy during the year excluding depreciation, was as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 

Teaching and 
Educational 

Support Staff 
Costs 

 
Other Support 

Staff Costs 

 
 

Educational 
Supplies 

 
Other Costs 

(excluding 
Depreciation) 

 
 
 

Total2022/23 

 
 
 

Total2021/22 
£  £  £  £  £  £  

Oakfield Primary 
Academy 

  
1,894,577 

 
1,196,603 

 
311,651 

 
570,532 

 
3,973,363 

 
3,503,834 

Temple Hill Primary 
School 

  
2,263,475 

 
1,381,036 

 
512,266 

 
590,518 

 
4,747,295 

 
4,604,969 

West Hill Primary 
Academy 

  
1,225,544 

 
819,233 

 
225,300 

 
330,551 

 
2,600,628 

 
2,807,075 

Fleetdown Primary 
School 

  
1,550,239 

 
1,061,667 

 
200,853 

 
465,853 

 
3,278,612 

 
3,130,615 

Culverstone Green 
Primary 

  
367,781 

 
188,278 

 
58,297 

 
112,436 

 
726,792 

 
- 

Meopham Community 
Primary 

  
688,904 

 
432,262 

 
120,868 

 
256,877 

 
1,498,911 

 
- 

Riverview Infant 
School 

  
609,912 

 
308,437 

 
56,868 

 
191,454 

 
1,166,671 

 
- 

Riverview Junior 
School 

  
785,150 

 
470,971 

 
116,034 

 
215,762 

 
1,587,917 

 
- 

Wrotham Road 
Primary 

  
813,293 

 
429,172 

 
99,999 

 
260,376 

 
1,602,840 

 
- 

Central Trust  1,168,146 666,017 157,637 505,007 2,496,807 2,963,653 
Trust  11,367,021 6,953,676 1,859,773 3,499,366 23,679,836 17,010,146 

 
Transfers between funds  
 
The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows: 

 
The General fund has been created to recognise the income and expenditure in respect of activities undertaken 
by the Trust which fall outside the scope of its core activities. 

 
The General Annual Grant (GAG) represents the core funding for the educational activities of the Trust via the 
Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) by the Department for Education (DfE). The GAG fund has been 
established because the GAG must be used for the normal running costs of the Trust. 
 
The Pupil Premium fund has been established to recognise the restricted funding from the Education and Skills 
Funding Agency to raise the attainment of disadvantaged pupils and close the gap between them and their 
peers. 

 
The Other DfE / ESFA revenue grants fund has been created to recognise the restricted funding received from 
the Department for Education/Education and Skills Funding Agency which fall outside the scope of core funding 
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Transfers between funds - continued  
 
The Local Authority revenue grants fund has been set up to recognise the income received from Kent County 
Council as a contribution towards the cost of the Trust's revenue expenditure. Funding received for Special 
Educational Needs is also recognised within Local Authority Grants. These funds are to assist with the costs 
incurred providing disadvantaged students with the additional educational resources that they require. 

 
The Other activities fund has been established to recognise all other restricted income and expenditure which 
falls outside the scope of the Academy Trust's core funding. 

 
The Non-Government revenue grants fund represents revenue grants received from non-Government entities. 

 
The Pension reserve has been created to separately identify the pension deficit inherited from the Local Authority 
upon conversion to academy status, and through which all the pension scheme movements are recognised. 

 
The NBV of fixed assets fund has been set up to recognise the tangible assets held by the Trust and is 
equivalent to the net book value of intangible and tangible fixed assets. Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 
and depreciation of tangible fixed assets is allocated to this fund. 

 
The DfE / ESFA capital grants fund has been created to recognise capital grants received for the purpose of the 
acquisition of tangible fixed assets. As tangible fixed assets are purchased, a transfer is made to the NBV of 
fixed asset funds. 

 
The Transfer in of existing academy fund has been created to recognise the net book value of fixed assets 
transferred into the Trust during the year for Culverstone Green Primary School, Meopham Community 
Academy, Riverview Infant School, Riverview Junior School and Wrotham Road School. The funds were 
transferred into the NBV of fixed asset fund to reflect the former Trust's audited accounts at 31 December 2022. 

 
The Donated assets fund has been created to show the donated ICT equipment received in a prior period as part 
of the Coronavirus pandemic scheme.  

 
The Capital loan on conversion fund represents the balance of the capital loan provided to Trust upon 
conversion. 

 
20. PENSION AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS  
 

The academy trust's employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Teachers' Pension Scheme 
England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
for non-teaching staff, which is managed by Kent County Council. Both are multi-employer defined benefit 
schemes.  

 
The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 2020 and of the LGPS to the 
period ended 31 March 2022.  

 
There were no outstanding or prepaid contributions at either the beginning or the end of the financial year.    
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 Teachers' pension scheme 

The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by the 
Teachers' Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. Membership is automatic for teachers in academies. All teachers 
have the option to opt-out of the TPS following enrolment.  

 
The TPS is an unfunded scheme to which both the member and employer makes contributions, as a percentage 
of salary - these contributions are credited to the Exchequer. Retirement and other pension benefits are paid by 
public funds provided by Parliament 

 
 Valuation of the teachers' pension scheme 

The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS in 
accordance with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2023 published by 
HM Treasury every 4 years. The aim of the review is to specify the level of future contributions. Actuarial scheme 
valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs, design of benefits and many other 
factors. The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2020. The valuation report was 
published by the Department for Education on 27 October 2023. The key elements of the valuation and 
subsequent consultation are:  
 

 - employer contribution rates set at 28.68% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% administration levy)  
 - total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefits) for service to 

the effective date of £262,000 million and notional assets (estimated future contributions together with the 
notional investments held at the valuation date) of £222,200 million, giving a notional past service deficit of 
£39,800 million  

 - the SCAPE rate, set by HMT, is used to determine the notional investment return. The current SCAPE rate is 
1.7% above the rate of CPI, and is based on the Office for Budget Responsibility’s forecast for long-term GDP 
growth.    

 - no changes in individual employee contributions until at least 1 April 2025. 
 

The next valuation result is due to be implemented from 1 April 2024.  
 

The employer's pension costs paid to TPS in the period amounted to £1,825,880 (2022 - £1,177,104).  
 

A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers' Pensions website.  
 

Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS is an unfunded multi-employer pension scheme. The academy 
trust has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The academy 
trust has set out above the information available on the scheme.  

 
 Local government pension scheme 

The LGPS is a funded defined benefit pension scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee-administered 
funds. The total contribution made for the year ended 31 August 2023 was £1,401,000 (2022 - £981,000), of 
which employer's contributions totalled £1,117,000 (2022 - £777,000). and employees' contributions totalled 
£284,000 (2022 - £204,000). The agreed contribution rates for future years are 22.50 per cent for employers and 
5.50 per cent for employees.  

 
Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the event of 
an academy trust closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met by the 
Department for Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013 and on 21 July 2022, the Department 
for Education reaffirmed its commitment to the guarantee, with a parliamentary minute published on GOV.UK.  
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The amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet are as follows:  
 
 Defined benefit 
 pension plans 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Present value of funded obligation (14,150,000) (8,175,000) 
 Adjustment for non-recoverable surplus  (1,004,000) - 
 Fair value of scheme assets 15,154,000 7,264,000 

     
 - (911,000) 

    
 
  

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities are as follows:  
 
 Defined benefit 
 pension plans 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Current service cost 1,088,000 2,160,000 
 Net interest from net defined benefit 

asset/liability   
 

32,0000 
 

114,000 
 Administrative cost 4,000 4,000 

     
 1,124,000 2,278,000 

    
 
 Actual return on plan assets 28,000 110,000 
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:  
 
 Defined benefit 
 pension plans 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Opening defined benefit obligation 8,175,000 13,725,000 
 Current service cost 1,213,000 2,160,000 
 Contributions by scheme participants  284,000 204,000 
 Interest cost 534,000 228,000 
 Benefits paid (118,000) (46,000) 
 Remeasurements: 
 Actuarial (gains)/losses from changes in 

demographic assumptions  
 

(206,000) 
 

(492,000) 
 Actuarial (gains)/losses from changes in 

financial assumptions  
 

(2,999,000) 
 

(8,490,000) 
 Oblig other remeasurement  

1,452,000 
 

886,000 
 Liabilities assumed / (extinguished) on 

settlements 
 

5,815,000 
 

- 
  

    
 14,150,000 8,175,000 

    
  
 Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows: 
 Defined benefit 
 pension plans 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Opening fair value of scheme assets 7,264,000 6,420,000 
 Contributions by employer 1,117,000 777,000 
 Contributions by scheme participants  284,000 204,000 
 Expected return 502,000 114,000 
 Actuarial gains/(losses) (4,000) (4,000) 
 Other actuarial gains/(losses) 427,000 - 
 Benefits paid (118,000) (46,000) 
 Settlement prices received / (paid) 5,940,000 - 
 Return on plan assets (excluding interest 

income)  
 

(258,000) 
 

(201,000) 

    
 15,154,000 7,264,000 
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The amounts recognised in other recognised gains and losses are as follows:  
 Defined benefit 
 pension plans 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Actuarial (gains)/losses from changes in 

demographic assumptions  
 

206,000 
 

492,000 
 Actuarial (gains)/losses from changes in 

financial assumptions  
 

2,999,000 
 

8,490,000 
 Oblig other remeasurement (1,452,000) (886,000) 
 Other actuarial gains/(losses) on assets 427,000 - 
 Pension assets not recoverable (1,004,000)  
 Return on plan assets (excluding interest 

income)  
 

(258,000) 
 

(201,000) 

    
 918,000 7,895,000 

    
 

The major categories of scheme assets as amounts of total scheme assets are as follows:  
 Defined benefit 
 pension plans 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Equities 9,623,000 4,761,000 
 Gilts 89,000 42,000 
 Cash 160,000 123,000 
 Other Bonds 2,094,000 961,000 
 Absolute Return Fund 1,086,000 523,000 
 Property 1,528,000 854,000 
 Infrastructure 574,000 - 

    
 15,154,000 7,264,000 

    
 
Principal actuarial assumptions at the Balance Sheet date (expressed as weighted averages):  

 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 Rate of increase in salaries 3.85% 3.90% 
 Rate of increase for pensions inflation 2.85% 2.90% 
 Discount rate for scheme liabilities 5.30% 4.25% 
 Inflation assumption (CPI)   2.85% 2.90% 
 Inflation assumption (RPI) 3.85% 2.90% 
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The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates. The 
assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are:  

 
 Retiring today 
 Males 20.7 21 
 Females 23.2 23.5 
 
 Retiring in 20 years 
 Males 22 22.3 
 Females 24.6 24.9 
 
 
 Sensitivity analysis 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Discount rate +0.1% (280,000) (220,000) 
 Discount rate -0.1% 288,000 227,000 
 Mortality assumption - 1 year increase 373,000 226,000 
 Mortality assumption - 1 year decrease (363,000) (208,000) 
 CPI rate +0.1% 274,000 214,000 
 CPI rate -0.1% (267,000) (220,000) 
 
 
21. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS  
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Contracted but not provided for in the financial statements  736,289 1,427,521 

   
 

The capital commitment at the year end is in relation to the acquisition of tangible fixed assets. 
 
22. LONG-TERM COMMITMENTS, INCLUDING OPERATING LEASES  
 

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases fall due as follows:  
 
 31.8.23  31.8.22 
 £ £ 
 Within one year 92,964 100,363 
 Between one and five years 62,786 69,946 

   
 155,750 170,309 
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Owing to the nature of the academy trust and the composition of the board of trustees being drawn from local 
public and private sector organisations, transactions may take place with organisations in which the trustees 
have an interest. The following related party transactions took place in the financial period. 

 
During the year, transactions took place with Curly's Legacy a registered charity, of with the CEO, Mr Ratcliffe, is 
also a Trustee. The Trust made payments totalling £23,175 (2022: £15,225) for the provision of outdoor learning 
services. The Trust made the purchases at arms length, for which Board approval was sought. Mr Ratcliffe did 
not participate in the approval process. In entering into the transaction the Trust has complied with the 
requirement of the Academy Trust Handbook 2022/23. 

 
Transactions also took place with We Are Beams Ltd, a company in which Mr Ratcliffe was also a Director until 6 
November 2022.The Trust made payments totalling £450 (2022: £875) in exchange for soft play and sensory 
room hire for vulnerable children. Again, the transactions took place at arms length and Board approval was 
sought to remain compliant with the Academy Trust Handbook 2022/23. 

 
Expenditure was incurred in the year with MSY Services, a business run by the spouse of Mrs Misy, the COO 
and CFO. The trust paid £1,710 (2022: £5,157) for maintenance services carried out. Once again Board approval 
was sought to remain compliant with the Academy Trust Handbook 2022/23. 

 
Mr Rouncefield's daughter is an employee of Temple Hill Primary Academy. During the year employer 
contributions amounted to £58,286 (2022: £31,276). 

 
The Headteacher of Temple Hill Primary Academy has a spouse employed at the same school. During the year 
employer contributions amounted to £65,594 (2022: £31,409). 
 
The Head of School of Riverview Junior School has a spouse employed at the same school. During the year 
employer contributions amounted to £43,977 (2022: £nil). 
 
All transactions involving such organisations are conducted in accordance with the requirements of the 
Academies Financial Handbook, including notifying ESFA of all transactions made on or after 1 April 2019 and 
obtaining their approval where required, and with the academy trust's financial regulations and normal 
procurement procedures relating to connected and related party transactions. 
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24. TRANSFER OF EXISTING ACADEMIES INTO THE ACADEMY TRUST  
 

As at 1 January 2023 The Pathway Academy Trust was transferred in to The Golden Thread Alliance. The 
following assets and liabilities were brought into the trust. There were no fair value adjustments upon transfer, 
the values transferred reflect The Pathway Academy Trust’s audited financial statements for the period ended 31 
December 2022.  

 
 

 
 
 

Value reported by 
transferring academy 

Trust 

 
Fair value 

adjustments 

 
Transfer in 
recognised 

£  £ £  
Tangible fixed assets 
Long-term leasehold property  20,978,964 - 20,978,964 
Furniture and equipment  30,520 - 30,520 
Computer equipment  27,793 - 27,793 
Motor vehicles  - - - 
 
Current assets 
Debtors due in less than one year  314,838 - 314,838 
Cash in bank and i hand  1,672,729 - 1,672,729 
 
Liabilities 
Creditors due in less than one year  (417,418) - (417,418) 
Creditors due in more han one year  (240,483) - (240,483) 
 
Pensions 
Pensions - Pension scheme assets/(liabilities)  125,000     - 125,000 

         
Net assets/(liabilities)  22,491,943     - 22,491,943 

         

 
 


